Body Composition and Bone Characteristics Data in NCAA D1 League Football Team by DXA and HRpQCT

by

Yufei Hua

Bachelor of Science, Nanjing Medical University, 2021

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the

School of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

University of Pittsburgh

UNIVERSITY OF PITTSBURGH

SCHOOL OF HEALTH AND REHABILITATION SCIENCES

This thesis was presented

by

Yufei Hua

It was defended on

March 14, 2023

and approved by

Thesis Co-Advisor: Bradley Nindl, PhD, FACSM, Vice Chair of Research, Professor and Director, Neuromuscular Research Laboratory, Department of Sports Medicine and Nutrition

Kristen Koltun, PhD, Postdoctoral Fellow, Department of Sports Medicine and Nutrition

Mita Lovalekar, MBBS, PhD, MPH, Associate Professor, Vice Chair for Academic Affairs, Department of Sports Medicine and Nutrition

Thesis Advisor: Katelyn Allison, PhD, ACSM-EP, Associate Professor, Department of Sports Medicine and Nutrition Copyright © by Yufei Hua

Body Composition and Bone Characteristics Data in NCAA D1 League Championship Football Team by DXA and HRpQCT

Yufei Hua, M.S.

University of Pittsburgh, 2023

Body composition plays an important role in an athlete's health and performance. While there have been abundant studies examining body composition using Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) with football players, high-resolution peripheral quantitative computed tomography (HRpQCT) is relatively a new technology that has not been examined in this population. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to provide normative ranges of body composition and bone characteristic data of football players, compare position differences of their bone characteristics and detect changes between their two visits. The first visit was in January 2022 and the second visit was in July and August 2022. 96 players of the University of Pittsburgh football team were measured in the first visit and 79 players were measured in the second visit. They were divided into Line, Skill and Combination groups by different functional movements on the field. Body composition and bone characteristics were measured by DXA and HRpQCT. There were 3 DXA scans of their total body, non-dominant femur and AP spine, and 2 HRpQCT scans at 4% and 30% tibia sites in each visit. Appropriate descriptive analysis was used for providing normative range of data. One-way ANOVA was used to compare position differences. Paired t tests or Wilcoxon signed ranks tests were used to assess changes between the two visits, as appropriate. The results provided normative ranges of players' body composition and bone characteristics. For position differences, players in Line group had significantly higher BMD variables (p < 0.05). For HRpQCT data, players in Skill group had

iv

significantly lower bone geometry data (p < 0.05) and some trabecular bone microarchitecture variables (p < 0.05) than other two groups. For changes between the two visits, Lean mass, Fatfree mass, Spine BMD, Trunk BMD and most HRpQCT variables were significantly increased. This study did present position differences and changes for bone characteristic data, while the biggest limitation is that there is lack of knowledge about these data related to football athletes. Future research should focus on why bone data is different between players from different positions and how bone data changes can improve players' health and performance.

Table of Contents

Preface	
1.0 Introduction	
1.1 Body Composition	
1.1.1 Body Composition Related to Sp	orts4
1.1.2 Body Composition and Football	Players5
1.2 Body Composition Measurements	7
1.2.1.1 Double Indirect Methods	
1.2.1.2 Indirect Methods	
1.2.1.3 Direct Method	
1.2.2 DXA in Athletic Population	
1.3 Bone Biomechanics	
1.3.1 Bone Strength and Adaptation	
1.3.1.1 Bone Anatomy	
1.3.1.2 Bone Remodeling	
1.3.2 Bone Measurements	
1.3.3 Bone Characteristics in Athletic	Population21
1.4 Problem Statement	
1.5 Study Purpose	
1.6 Specific Aims	
1.7 Study Significance	

2.0 Methods
2.1 Experimental Design 25
2.2 Subject Recruitment
2.2.1 Inclusion Criteria27
2.2.2 Exclusion Criteria27
2.3 Instruments
2.3.1 DXA
2.3.2 HRpQCT
2.4 Procedures 29
2.4.1 DXA
2.4.2 HRpQCT
2.5 Data Reduction
2.6 Data Analysis
3.0 Results
3.1 Demographic Information 33
3.2 Description of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics
3.3 Differences of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics Between Positions on
Football Court
3.3.1 Position Difference in Body Composition Measured by DXA
3.3.2 Position Difference in Bone Characteristics Measured by DXA40
3.3.3 Position Differences in Bone Characteristics Measured by HRpQCT43
3.3.3.1 Bone Geometry Position Differences
3.3.3.2 Position Differences in Volumetric BMD

3.3.3.3 Microarchitecture Position Differences
3.3.4 Position Differences of FEA Data in Visit 148
3.4 Changes in Body Composition and Bone Characteristics from Visit 1 to 2 49
3.4.1 Changes in Body Composition Measured by DXA49
3.4.2 Changes in Bone Data by DXA50
3.4.3 Changes of Bone Characteristics at 4% Tibia by HRpQCT51
3.4.4 Changes of FEA Data at 4% Tibia53
4.0 Discussion
4.1.1 Provide Normative Ranges of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics
Data of a Division-1 Colligative Football Team54
4.1.2 Position Differences of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics55
4.1.3 Changes of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics between 2 Visits .57
4.2 Limitation and Future Study Directions 59
4.3 Conclusion
Appendix A Participants and Position
Bibliography

List of Tables

Table 1: Visit 1 Demographic Information of Participants 34
Table 2: Visit 2 Demographic Information of Participants 34
Table 3: Visit 1 Body Composition by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of Participants35
Table 4: Visit 1 Bone Data by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of Participants
Table 5: Visit 1 4% Tibial Bone Characteristics by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative
Computed Tomography of Participants
Table 6: Visit 1 Finite Element Analysis of Participants
Table 7: Position Difference in Body Composition, Measured by Dual-energy X-ray
Absorptiometry in Visit 1
Table 8: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Body Composition Measured by
Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry between Groups
Table 9: Position Differences of Bone Data, Measured by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry
in Visit 1 41
Table 10: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Bone Data by Dual-energy X-ray
Absorptiometry between Groups41
Table 11: Position Difference in Bone Geometry, Measured by High-resolution Peripheral
Quantitative Computed Tomography in Visit 144
Table 12: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Bone Geometery Measured by
High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative Computed Tomography between Groups44

Table 13: Position Difference of Volumetric BMD by High-resolution Peripheral
Quantitative Computed Tomography in Visit 1 46
Table 14: Position Difference of Bone Characteristics by High-resolution Peripheral
Quantitative Computed Tomography in Visit 1 47
Table 15: Bonferroni Multiple Comparisons of Microarchitecture by High-resolution
Peripheral Quantitative Computed Tomography between Groups
Table 16: Position Differences of FEA Data between Groups 49
Table 17: Body Composition Differences from Visit 1 to 2 Measured by Dual-energy X-ray
Absorptiometry of Participants 49
Table 18: Bone Data Differences between Visit 1 and 2 Measured by Dual-energy X-ray
Absorptiometry of Participants 50
Table 19: Bone Characteristics Differences between Visit 1 and 2 by High-resolution
Peripheral Quantitative Computed Tomography of Participants
Table 20: Finite Element Analysis Difference between Visit 1 and 2 of Participats

List of Figures

Preface

I want to thank BoBCAT study team providing me the chance working in the project, and also my co-investigators (Nicole M. Sekel¹, Kristen J. Koltun¹, Adam J. Sterczala¹, Evan D. Feigel¹, David N. Mowery¹, Mita Lovalekar¹, Pouneh K. Fazeli¹, Jane A. Cauley¹, Sophie L. Wardle², Thomas J. O'Leary², Julie P. Greeves², Bradley C. Nindl²).

I am grateful to ¹University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, ²Army Health and Performance Research, UK Ministry of Defense, U.S. Army Medical Research and Development Command and USAMRDC W81XWH2110542 for the opportunity and funding.

The views presented are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of DoD or its components.

1.0 Introduction

Body composition is an important indicator of an athlete's athletic performance and health. Different sports have different requirements for the body composition of the athlete due to specific movement patterns and functional movements. In team sports like basketball, volleyball and football, there is a corresponding difference in the body composition of the athletes due to the different positions on the field.^{14,15} Managing the body composition of athletes is key for sports teams to prevent injuries and achieve good performance.

There are many ways to assess body composition like skinfold and bioelectrical impedance assessment. However, Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) is the gold standard for determining body composition for team athletes.³ There are an increasing number of studies using DXA to measure body composition for football players.^{4,5,6,15,16} However, few studies have focused on the body composition of football players in different positions.^{17,19} Raymond et al. illustrated that different positions of football players can significantly affect the results of different body composition testing methods.¹⁷ Malvin et al. suggested that players on the offensive line have a higher lean mass, body fat and fat mass than players at other positions and suggests that elite athletes may have differences on muscle quality regardless differences of body composition, but this study did not use DXA. Therefore, it is important to test body composition differences of football players by DXA.

Bone is an extraordinary biological material both in strength and flexibility. In particular, the structure, size and strength of bone depend on and respond to the conventional physiological and mechanical demands placed on it.^{12,13} Bone mass accounts for 50-70% of bone strength.¹⁰ The amount of trabecular bone and cortical bone at a given site of bone affect bone strength independently.¹¹ High Resolution Peripheral Quantitative Computed Tomography (HR-pQCT) is a method which provides a non-invasive, in-vivo way to exam bone microarchitecture. HR-pQCT scans can be used to construct micro-finite element (mFE) models of bone strength, which correlate well with biomechanically measured bone strength.^{7,8} Nevertheless, to achieve this resolution, scanning is only available at peripheral skeletal sites (such as distal radius and tibia).⁷ Several studies have used HR-pQCT to test bony characteristics of athletes.^{20,22,23,24} Schipilow et al. compared bone data of athletes at different levels of competition and concluded that the higher the level of competition the higher the bone quality.²⁰ Moreover, Sada et al. included baseball pitchers to compare the skeletal structure of their dominant and non-dominant elbows.²³ He found the dominant elbow had higher bone mineral density, bone volume fraction and trabecular thickness.²³ However, these studies did not investigate football players, and these studies are more focused on female players whose bone quality can be affected by amenorrhea.⁶⁹ Bone and Body Composition Adaptations to Training (BoBCAT) study aims to have a better understanding of the mechanisms through which exercise influences bone and the optimal training parameters to maximize beneficial osteogenic adaptations especially to military population. Therefore, the BoBCAT study analyzes training induced changes in bone density, geometry and strength as well as novel bone-muscle crosswalk factors, bone marrow adiposity, and extracellular vesicle cargo in a laboratory training group and a military group. Additionally, the BoBCAT also takes several Pitt sports teams into research over the season. The BoBCAT study is one of the first to assess HR-

pQCT in football players. External loading is an important factor in bone remodeling.¹² Different movement patterns and body composition may cause differences in the microscopic biological structure of bone.¹⁸

The purpose of this study is to evaluate body composition and bone characteristics of players playing different positions on the field and investigate their body composition and bone characteristics changes off-season.

1.1 Body Composition

1.1.1 Body Composition Related to Sports

Body composition is a term used in the fitness and health community to refer to the percentage of fat, water, bone, muscle, skin, and other lean tissues that make up the body.²⁵ Body composition can be approached through five levels of increasing complexity, with body mass defined as the total of atoms, molecules, cells, tissues, or distinct body segments.²⁹ The proper approach for analyzing body composition should take into account the characteristics generated at each level independently, with the sum of the values within each level determining body mass. Thus, (i) the atomic level considers the number of hydrogen, carbon, oxygen, and other atoms, (ii) the molecular level takes into account fat mass and fat-free mass buried in total body water and bone mineral content, and (iii) the cellular level takes into account adipocytes. (iv) the tissue

level analyses the quantity of fat and lean soft tissue and skeletal muscle mass, and (v) the whole-body level summarizes the mass of different bodily sections.^{30,31,32}

For the general population, body composition can reflect the risk of developing some diseases, such as obesity and cardiovascular disease. Sports-related professionals are interested to know how and which body components are important for boosting performance, reducing injury risk, and monitoring sports health.²⁶ Indeed, modifying an athlete's body mass or body composition traits can give them an advantage in numerous sports. In sports that require physical aesthetics such as gymnastics and synchronized swimming, it is important for athletes to keep their body in good shape and proportion for their performance in competitive events.²⁷ But, for example, boxing and wrestling, which require weight to divide the group, control of body composition also plays a vital role in the athletes' competitiveness.²⁸ Unhealthy body composition played on the field, growing height, and hormonal fluctuations are all risk factors for ACL injuries.^{33,34,35} Meanwhile, there are difference in body composition between players playing different positions.^{17,19} Therefore, managing an athlete's body composition can be useful for athletes and coaching teams to help athletes improve their competitiveness and prevent injuries.

1.1.2 Body Composition and Football Players

The body composition of football players is critical to their athletic performance including speed, strength, agility and flexibility. Previous research has shown that various indices of body size and composition correlate with outcomes in football-related performance tests evaluating speed,

strength, and power, even in-game performance. Gains in body mass or height have been linked to increases in playing time and income in the National Football League (NFL).⁵⁷ Aside from performance, interest in football athletes' body composition is expanding due to its impact on health.^{57,58} Nearly all position groups prioritize the accretion of lean mass, based on the established links between lean body mass, strength, and power development.⁵⁸ Lean mass accretion is an even higher priority for athletes in positions that specifically emphasize size and strength, such as linemen, tight ends, and linebackers.⁶⁰ Body fat percentage is also an important performance correlate, with evidence showing higher body fat to adversely influence measured of speed and endurance. However, a recent study of college football players showed offensive liners had a relative higher body fat percentage than their opposite positions because they might have less moving distance.⁶⁰ This is an example for football players requiring differential body composition for different positions because of different tasks on the field. Nearly none of studies except Bosch et al. used DXA on college football players.⁶⁰ Bosch et al. measured 467 football players from four universities giving normative data of body composition for all positions.⁶⁰ The current study was designed to test the consistency with Bosch's study.

In addition to performance, interest in body composition of football athletes is growing because of its effect on health. Researchers using body mass index (BMI) as a measure of obesity have suggested that up to 56% of football players are obese.⁶¹ All positions were classified as overweight or obese based on BMI (>25 kg/m²), yet other than offensive and defensive linemen, all positions had healthy percent body fat (13–20%) and low visceral fat mass (<500 g) in a DXA study.⁶⁰ Although the inaccuracy of associating a high BMI with increased risk of mortality has been reported, the link between obesity in football players and cardiovascular risk has been

shown consistently in numerous recent studies.^{62,63} Therefore, it is important to identify a valid method to evaluate football players fat tissue. Oliver et al. developed a set of equations to accurately access fat mass for college football players.⁶⁴ From a player health perspective, even though all positions had relatively high BMI values, most positions had relatively low body fat and visceral fat, which is important for the health of players during and after their playing career.

1.2 Body Composition Measurements

Because performance is so heavily influenced by body shape and composition, the ability to track these changes in an athlete over time is critical for both coaches and players. Its evaluation is critical in determining the efficacy of a diet or features connected to the athlete's nutritional state. As it mentioned before, there are five levels to describe body composition. To assess body composition, the various methods available are based on two-compartment (2C), three-compartment (3C), four-compartment (4C) or multi-compartment models.⁴²(fig.1) In clinical and research contexts, the four-compartment molecular model and the three-compartment tissue model are largely used to assess body composition.³⁶ Once the model has been selected, each parameter should be evaluated using its reference method to obtain maximum accuracy. The following will talk about the measurement of body composition in clinical and laboratory practice.



(1C) (2C) (3C) (4C) (Multicompartment model) Figure 1: Different types of body composition models. 1C, one-compartment; 2C, two-compartment; 3C, threecompartment; 4C, four-compartment; MC, mineral content; NEL, non-essential lipid; EL, essential lipid; BM, bone mineral; SM, soft-tissue mineral; GLY, glycogen.⁴²

1.2.1.1 Double Indirect Methods

<u>Anthropometry:</u> Anthropometric measurements are non-invasive and help in assessing the nutritional status, identifying individuals at risk, monitoring the efficacy of a nutrition intervention and providing information about the body's stores of fat and muscle.³⁷ Since these are relatively simple to measure, inexpensive and do not require high level of technical skill, anthropometric measurements are used widely in clinical situations and large epidemiological studies.³⁷ The body mass index (BMI) is widely used to estimate body fat as it is simple and inexpensive. The WHO classification is commonly used to categorize BMI.

<u>Skinfold (SKF)</u>: The skinfold (SKF) technique is a measure of subcutaneous fat, by estimating body density (Db) to derive per cent body fat (BF). The commonly used calipers are Holtain, Lange and Harpenden, which measure to the nearest 0.2 mm. Measurements are made at sites such as biceps, triceps, subscapular and suprailiac, which are used in age- and gender-specific equations, to arrive at values of body density.³⁸ Body fat is obtained from Db using a population specific conversion formula.³⁷

<u>Waist circumference and Waist-hip ratio</u>: Waist circumference is utilized as an indicator of intraabdominal fat in both children and adults. In a standing position during end-tidal expiration, the waist circumference is measured using a non-stretchable tape to the nearest 0.1 cm at the midpoint of the lowest rib cage and the iliac crest.³⁷

The waist-hip ratio (WHR) is a proxy measure of lower and upper body fat distribution that measures where fat is stored in the body. Android, or excess upper body fat, is more common in men, whereas gynoid, or excess lower body fat, is more common in women.³⁷ A high WHR indicates an increased risk of obesity-related health issues.³⁷

<u>Bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA)</u>: Bioelectrical impedance analysis technique is used to predict body composition based on the electrical conductive properties of the body and involves measuring the impedance (Z) to the flow of a low-electrical current (800 μ A), at a fixed frequency (50 kHz).⁴⁰ The principle of BIA is that Lean Tissue (LT), consisting of water and electrolytes, is a good electrical conductor, while fat, which does not have water, is a poor conductor. Hydration factor of 73 per cent is used to predict fat-free mass (FFM) from total body water (TBW).⁴⁰ The possible sources of error in BIA are differences in limb length, physical

activity, nutrition status, hydration level, blood chemistry, ovulation, and placement of electrodes.³⁹ The BIA can offer quick, straightforward, and generally inexpensive estimates of FFM and TBW in healthy populations and obese persons with adequate standardization of procedures, instruments, and individual preparation.³⁷ The BIA instrument is portable, safe, and simple to use, as well as relatively cheap in cost and participant burden, making it a suitable tool for large studies. However, BIA is population-specific and cannot measure segmental body fat.⁴¹

1.2.1.2 Indirect Methods

<u>Hydrodensitometry [underwater weighing (UWW)]:</u> When the body is entirely submerged, the approach measures the water displaced by it, and when combined with residual lung volume measurements, it can offer an accurate measure of body volume (BV), from which Db can be determined.³⁷ A person with a higher percentage of FFM will weigh more in water and have a lower percentage of BF since bone and muscle are denser than water and fat floats.³⁷ A high percentage of FM makes the body lighter in the water, and the individual has a high %BF.³⁷ The individual's underwater weight is utilized to calculate weight loss. The UWW method is a valid method for measuring BV and Db and the estimates of %BF from UWW had average errors ranging from -2.8 to 1.8 %BF when compared to 4C method.⁴³ The UWW method is relatively fast to other lab methods and non-invasive, but it cannot provide regional evaluation and high-cost.⁴¹

<u>Air displacement plethysmography (ADP):</u> The ADP which is similar in principle to UWW measures the Db and hence total body fat and lean tissue (LT). The subject is sat in an enclosed chamber, and by varying the capacity of the chamber, the volume of displaced air may be

calculated based on the change in air pressure. BV is calculated by subtracting the volume of air in an empty chamber from the volume of air in the chamber after a person has seated in it.³⁷

Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA): DXA is a two-dimensional imaging technique that uses X-rays with two different energies. The attenuation of an X-ray is dependent on the thickness of the tissue and the tissue's attenuation coefficient, which is dependent on the X-ray energy.⁴⁴ By using two different energy levels, the images can be separated into two components (e.g., bone and soft tissue). DXA has been found to be more accurate than density-based methods for estimating total body fat. The DXA is quick, has low radiation exposure and needs little technical skill and preparation by the individual. The images can be split into the components of bone and soft tissue using two different energy levels. While DXA is the gold standard for bone mineral density measurements, it is also used to estimate total and regional body fat and lean tissue mass (LTM).⁴⁵

<u>Computed tomography (CT):</u> CT gives a three-dimensional high-resolution image volume of the complete or selected parts of the body, computed from a large number of X-ray projections of the body from different angles.⁴⁵ The known differences in attenuations of X-rays between lean soft tissue and adipose tissue (AT) can then be used to separate these tissues, as well as to determine mixtures between them. As opposed to the previously described techniques, CT can accurately determine fat in skeletal muscle tissue.⁴⁶ CT, as a three-dimensional imaging technology, has the capability of providing direct volumetric measurements of organs and AT depots. However, in most situations, CT-based body composition measurement is confined to two-dimensional analysis of one or a limited number of axial slices of the body, resulting in the

use of the area measured as a proxy for the volume.⁴⁵ This method, however, has limitations in terms of precision because the precise placements of slices in relation to internal organs cannot be specified in advance and will thus vary across scans.⁴⁵

<u>Magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)</u>: Images of soft tissue in the body can be produced by MRI, which uses the different magnetic properties of the nuclei of elements in the cell, usually hydrogen in water and fat.³⁷ Diffuse fat infiltration in organs and precise regional measurements of AT and LT are estimated using 'quantitative fat water imaging', which is based on Dixon imaging.⁴⁷ In this technique, the separation of the signals into water and fat image is made using the magnetic resonance frequencies of protons in fat and water.³⁷ Since the MRI does not use ionizing radiation, it can be used for three-dimensional volumetric imaging even in neonate and infants. However, due to the limited availability of efficient tools for analyzing three-dimensional image segmentation, body composition using MRI is restricted to one- or two-dimensional slices.³⁷

1.2.1.3 Direct Method

<u>Whole-body potassium counter (WBKC):</u> The cellular 4C model partitions the body into fat, body cell mass (BCM), ECF, and extra cellular solids (ECSs). The WBKC is the gold standard to accurately measure the BCM. However, it is highly cost and difficult to use.³⁷

1.2.2 DXA in Athletic Population

Athletes and coaches aware that skeletal muscle mass and body fat are related to competitive performance.⁴⁸ Skeletal muscle mass, historically measured as FFM and more recently as lean soft tissue mass (LSTM), reflects functional mass and adds to strength and force generation, hence boosting sport performance.⁶ Conversely, FM is considered non-functional mass, with increasing amounts of FM mechanically and metabolically hindering sport performance and adversely affecting thermoregulation.^{50,51}

Although surface anthropometry protocols remain the primary source of information on body composition in athletes, the increasing availability and popularity of new techniques for physique assessment have allowed sports scientists to consider them as additional tools for use in the everyday monitoring of athletes. According to a review based on the data on PubMed, DXA is considered as the golden standard method to assess whole-body composition, regional fat and FFM.⁵² DXA shows its advantages:1) Suitable for most athletes, 2) Fast and repeatable, 3) Able to provide regional body composition, 4) Low radiation dose and 5) Nonintrusive.⁵³ While, DXA also has disadvantages for using: 1) Expensive equipment; 2) Not portable, 3) Scanning bed is smaller than typical physique of many larger athletes, 4) Trained technician required, 5) Unable to directly compare results between different DXA machines.⁵³ DXA has shown validity to estimate body composition in general or obese population. However, fewer of these indirect studies of the validity of DXA technology in physique assessment exist in athletic populations.^{53,54,55,56} Bilsborough et al. claim DXA is suitable for assessing body composition in lean team sports athletes.⁵⁵ For taller individuals who might excess scanning bed, Santos et al.

prove DXA also shows great validity and reliability.⁵⁴ For muscular athletes or obese nonathletic individuals, reflection scanning allows DXA body composition assessment. Although this procedure introduces error, it may be minimized through manual adjustment of ROIs and consistency of analysis methods.⁸⁴

This study chooses DXA to measure body composition of male football players because studies mentioned before shown its validity and reliability. The DXA can be the fast, repeatable, safe and precise method for the target population.

1.3 Bone Biomechanics

Bone is a remarkable and exquisite biomaterial. It is highly adaptive, structurally dynamic, and metabolically active, and is superior to all other biomaterials in terms of strength and toughness.⁶⁵ In particular, bone structure, size and strength are reliant upon and responsive to the routine physiological and mechanical demands placed upon it.⁶⁶ For athletic population, bone physiology is vital for their health and related to performance. Having a thorough view of athletes' bone biomechanics is quite important for researchers, coaches and athletic trainers.

1.3.1 Bone Strength and Adaptation

Bone strength explicitly refers to the ability of bone to withstand force prior to catastrophic failure and is inextricably linked with fatigue resistance to repetitive loads.⁶⁵ Given the complex

and multidimensional nature of bone, its strength is ultimately determined by the interaction and adjustment of its material and structural properties evident at macroscopic, microscopic and nanoscopic levels.⁶⁵

The adaptability, modulation, and regulation of bone to mechanical and non-mechanical stimuli provides practitioners with the ability to directly influence and target bone strength through numerous interdependent mechanisms.¹² As all forms of bone adaptation collaboratively determine structural integrity and mechanical competency, it is desirable to optimize and preserve bone strength during growth, development, maturity and advanced age through multi-disciplinary and holistic approaches which importantly address all bone strength determinants.¹² Bone mass accounts for 50 to 70% of bone strength.¹⁰ Bone geometry and composition are important, however, because larger bones are stronger than smaller bones, even with equivalent bone mineral density. As bone diameter expands radially, the strength of bone increases by the radius of the involved bone raised to the fourth power. The amount and proportion of trabecular and cortical bone at a given skeletal site affect bone strength independently. Bone material properties are important for bone strength. The biological basis of bone strength is determined by its structure and function through its anatomy and physiology.

1.3.1.1 Bone Anatomy

At macroscopic view, bone must be rigid and stiff to withstand forces and accommodate loading, yet be flexible and elastic to deform and absorb energy.¹² To manage these contradictory and paradoxical requirements, the skeleton contains two macroscopic osseous tissues (trabecular and cortical bone) which are architecturally and functionally different.⁶⁷

Trabecular bone, also known as cancellous bone, is encapsulated beneath cortical bone. It is most prominently found in weight-bearing skeletal structures, specifically the proximal and distal ends of long-bones (epiphyseal and metaphyseal regions), the carpals and tarsals of the extremities, and vertebrae.¹¹ The three-dimensional lattice-like structure of trabecular bone is primarily organized in the direction from which the greatest stresses are most commonly experienced, a design best suited for the mechanical loading of bone.⁶⁸ The spongy and porous architecture of trabecular bone enables it to store large amounts of energy prior to yielding, thus allowing it to routinely tolerate cyclical low-grade forces.⁶⁷

Cortical bone, also known as compact bone, forms the thin superficial layer of all bones, though is most prominently found in the thick central cortex (diaphysis) of long bones through-out the appendicular skeleton.¹¹ In long bones, cortical tissue is arranged in a cylindrical fashion with concentric layers across two primary surfaces: the periosteum (a dense fibrous membrane forming the outside layer) and endosteum (a thin membrane forming the inner layer) of the diaphyseal shaft. Both surfaces contain important cells (osteoclasts, osteoblasts and osteocytes) responsible for modeling and remodeling processes essential to bone adaptation and osteogenesis.⁷⁰ Structurally, cortical bone is highly organized, densely packed, rigid, and texturally smooth, with mineralized lamellar bone and collagen fiber matrix most prominently arranged in the direction of routine mechanical stress.⁶⁹ This provides cortical bone with an increased capability to tolerate sudden, high impact forces i.e. a sample of cortical bone is ~25% stronger than a sample of trabecular bone.^{12,65,70}

Bone also has microscopic and sub-microscopic levels which, together with the macroscopic level, form a multidimensional architectural biomaterial with a deliberate mass (size, geometry and density) aimed at achieving optimal structural strength.¹²

1.3.1.2 Bone Remodeling

In particular, the skeleton is able to construct (model) and reconstruct (remodel) itself through cellular processes in response to developmental and mechanical loading demands through tightly controlled cellular activities.⁷¹

Modeling is the process by which bones change their overall shape in response to physiologic influences or mechanical forces, leading to gradual adjustment of the skeleton to the forces that it encounters.¹¹ Bones may widen or change axis by removal or addition of bone to the appropriate surfaces by independent action of osteoblasts and osteoclasts in response to biomechanical forces.¹¹ Bones normally widen with aging in response to periosteal apposition of new bone and endosteal resorption of old bone.¹¹ Wolff's law describes the observation that long bones change shape to accommodate stresses placed on them. During bone modeling, bone formation and resorption are not tightly coupled.¹¹

Bone modeling is less frequent than remodeling in adults.⁷² Bone remodeling is the process by which bone is renewed to maintain bone strength and mineral homeostasis.¹¹ Remodeling involves continuous removal of discrete packets of old bone, replacement of these packets with newly synthesized proteinaceous matrix, and subsequent mineralization of the matrix to form new bone. (Fig.2)^{11,73} The remodeling process resorbs old bone and forms new bone to prevent

accumulation of bone microdamage.¹¹ Remodeling begins before birth and continues until death. The bone remodeling unit is composed of a tightly coupled group of osteoclasts and osteoblasts that sequentially carry out resorption of old bone and formation of new bone.¹¹ Bone remodeling increases in perimenopausal and early postmenopausal women and then slows with further aging but continues at a faster rate than in premenopausal women. Bone remodeling is thought to increase mildly in aging men.¹¹



Figure 2: A graphical representation of the remodeling cycle.⁷³ Bone resorption (left) is stimulated by a microcrack which severs canaliculi channels between osteocytes leading to osteocytic apoptosis. Lining cells and osteocytes release signals attracting cells from blood and marrow reservoirs into the damaged area leading to osteoclastogenesis. Bone formation (right) commences with successive streams of osteoblastic activity depositing new lamellar bone. Osteoblasts then transform into new lining cells (extra-cellular layer) or osteocytes (embedded in osteoid and bone matrix).

1.3.2 Bone Measurements

The accessibility of bone in-vivo has traditionally made it difficult for scientists to study bone adaptation. With help of modern technology, several devices can detect bone density, structure

and strength non-invasively. (Fig.3)⁶⁵ Due to relatively low-cost and availability, DXA and HRpQCT are commonly used for bone measurement.⁶⁵



Figure 3: Material and structural determinants of bone strength or fragility (left) with associated technologies required to examine bone properties (right); along the macroscopic, microscopic and nanoscopic continuum [top to bottom].⁶⁵

<u>Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA)</u>: As mentioned before, DXA uses X-rays with two different energies; the attenuation coefficients and ratios of which differentiate hard tissue from soft tissue, and fat mass from lean mass in an expedient and effective manner.⁴⁴ DXA quantifies areal bone mineral density (aBMD) and its derivatives (bone area and bone mineral content) in order to examine bone quality.⁷⁴ aBMD T-score from DXA is used for bone health and skeletal fragility diagnoses of bone disorders defined by the World Health Organization from population-based values. However, the bone architecture, size and shape cannot be measured by DXA.^{74,75} Specifically, DXA's uniplanar, low-resolution images restrict clinicians to descriptions of whole bone mass, which only partially explains bone strength variation.⁷⁵

Quantitative Computed Tomography (QCT, axial; pQCT, peripheral): QCT is a multi-planar, three-dimensional bone densitometry imaging device which measures the material and structural properties of bone at macroscopic depth, providing clinicians with more accurate descriptions of bone shape, size and quality.^{76,79} pQCT devices are able to provide unobstructed circumferential measures of hard- and soft- tissue masses, generating volumetric measures of area, content and density for trabecular bone, cortical bone, marrow, muscle and fat compartments; bone strength indices and fracture loads; periosteal and endosteal size; cortical thickness; and bone mass.^{77,78} Bone quality and skeletal fragility examinations using pQCT are superior to those provided by DXA.^{77,78} Importantly, applications of mechanical assumptions to quantified material and structural properties across numerous cross-sections allow indices of bone strength to be established, providing better predictive accuracy of fracture risk beyond generic aBMD and vBMD measures.^{80,81} Despite the advantageous diagnostic power afforded to clinicians using pQCT, complexity arises as normative and comparative data for general, specific and special populations scarcely exist at present, owing to its emerging status as an alternate imaging device in clinical and research environments.⁷⁶ Some forms of pQCT are limited to macroscopic depth, however the emerging use of micro-scanners (HRpQCT) provides higher resolution images that are capable of detecting critically important microarchitectural features including trabecular thickness, connectivity, and number; cortical porosity; volume fraction; and arterial calcification.80,81

1.3.3 Bone Characteristics in Athletic Population

Sports training characterized by impacts or weight-bearing activity is well known to induce osteogenic effects on the skeleton. Few studies have linked skeletal strength and skeletal geometry to athletic performance, but some studies have given them description and shown them associated with injury risk.^{82,83} Because of characteristics of pQCT, these studies used pQCT to measure bone geometry in athletic population.^{82,83} For soccer players, both male and female athletes had greater BMD at all sites, cortical and trabecular area at tibial sites and higher bone strength than their comparison controls.⁸² Male soccer players also showed greater bone variables than female players.⁸² As it mentioned before, in macroscopic level, bone geometry can be affected by load bearing in sports training and competition in different sports. For artistic gymnastics, gymnastic activity applies impact loads that involve the total body mass, imparting high muscular loads and mass inertia to both upper and lower extremities.⁸³ Therefore, bone adaptation at both upper and lower extremities are necessary to be considered. Dowthwaite et al claimed that gymnastic loading during growth appears to yield significant enlargement of total and cortical bone geometry (+10 to 30%) and elevation of trabecular density (+20%) in the forearm, yielding elevated indices of skeletal strength (+20 to +50%).⁸³ Furthermore, bone parameters were more linked with body weight or muscle, but this trend seems to be reflected only in leaner athletes.

There does not seem to be much experimentation linking bone geometry to performance. A study aimed to investigate the relationship between body composition, bone geometry and plantar pressure. They found an association between muscle mass bone density and plantar pressure, but no significant association between bone geometry and plantar pressure. As of yet, researchers do not have a good way to explore the association between bone geometry and motor performance. For the time being, bone geometry measurements are more often used for screening for injuries and for the study of injury risk factors.

However, bone geometry of football players requires further investigation. Football players have different body composition and specific functional movements due to the different positions on the field. These differences expose their bone under different load and intensity. Adaptations of these differences have not been studied. It is important for sports team to have these notes to be better known about their players. The newest description of football players' bone geometry can provide normative data to be compared with other sports, which might be helpful to indicate how functional movements or specific body composition affect bone geometry to athletic population.

1.4 Problem Statement

Body composition is always a significant factor of athletic performance and related to injury prevention. For football players, there are few research about their body composition by using DXA the "Gold Standard". Due to the variation of positions on football court, how the body composition differs between positions is necessary to measure. Moreover, description of bone architecture for football players remains unknown. There is a necessity to have a description of bone geometry for football population. How football training affect bone geometry is worth to be investigated. Therefore, coaches, athletic trainers and performance trainers can have a better knowledge and modify players' training program for sake of their bone health.

1.5 Study Purpose

DXA is the golden standard measurement of body composition, and HRpQCT can give a structural view of bone in football players. The purpose of this study is to compare body composition and bone characteristics differences between football players playing different positions on the court, changes of body composition and bone characteristics during January to August, and to get a description of bone data for a college football team.

1.6 Specific Aims

<u>Specific Aim 1:</u> To describe normative values of body composition variables including BMI, Fat Mass, BMD etc. of UPITT football players.

<u>Specific Aim 2:</u> To describe normative values of bone geometry data including vBMD, trabecular/cortical area, trabecular/cortical thickness, stiffness, failure load etc. of UPITT football players.

<u>Specific Aim 3:</u> To describe differences in bone characteristic data (vBMD, trabecular/cortical area, trabecular/cortical thickness, stiffness, failure load etc.) between players play different positions on the field.

<u>Specific Aim 4:</u> To investigate body composition (BMI, Fat Mass, BMD etc.) and bone characteristic variables (vBMD, trabecular/cortical area, trabecular/cortical thickness, stiffness, failure load etc.) changes from January to August in football players.

1.7 Study Significance

With the use of DXA, this study could provide detailed and accurate information of body composition of collegiate football players. Therefore, coaches and trainers can make more specific regulation on players' body composition and injury prevention program. Moreover, having these data can help players to clarify their own position and move forward to break their limitation. Due to football team of University of Pittsburgh winning the ACC championship in 2021, players' body composition data could give other collegiate football team as a reference. Meanwhile, it was the first time to test football players by HRpQCT, and it is vital to investigate how football training affect bone adaptation. This study could give a first glance at bone data of such population. This information could make sports teams better know their athletes and give further recommendation to improve their bone health.

2.0 Methods

2.1 Experimental Design

This study utilized a prospective cohort, within-subject controlled study design. Subjects came to NMRL and went through DXA and HRpQCT scan in January, 2022 and July or August, 2022. The purpose of this study was to compare body composition and bone geometry differences between football players playing different positions on the court, and to get a description of bone data for a college football team.

Variables in this study were body composition characteristics, bone geometry characteristics and positions on football field.

Body composition variables: Weight(kg), BMI (kg/m²), Region % Fat (%), Lean Mass (kg), Fat Mass (kg), Fat Free Mass(kg); Total BMD (g/cm²), Trunk BMD(g/cm²), Leg BMD (g/cm²), Spine BMD (g/cm²), Trunk BMD (g/cm²), Total Z-score; Femur Neck BMD (g/cm²), Femur BMD (g/cm²), Femur Neck Z-score and Femur Z-score.

Bone characteristc variables: total vBMD (mg HA/cm3), trabecular vBMD (mg HA/cm3), cortical vBMD (mg HA/cm3), trabecular area (mm2), trabecular bone volume fraction (%), cortical area (mm2), cortical thickness (mm), trabecular thickness (mm), trabecular number (1·mm), trabecular separation (mm), cortical porosity (%), and cortical pore diameter (mm).
Micro–finite element analysis was performed to calculate stiffness (kN/mm) and failure load (kN) under uniaxial compression.

Potential participants would then contact the NMRL to participate. Participants were grouped into positions as follows:

- Line group: offensive and defensive linemen
- Skill group: defensive backs, wide receivers, and running backs
- Combination group: linebackers, tight ends, quarterbacks, and special teams ^{87,89}

2.2 Subject Recruitment

Athletics medical and performance staff introduced the PI and other study team members to the UPITT Division I Football team on multiple occasions so that all athletes were given the opportunity to participate; athletes were not pre-selected by Athletics personnel. The study team then spoke to the athletics team, informing the potential participants in detail of the research project. The PI and medical/performance staff emphasized emphatically that participation was voluntary. The study team would answer any questions the potential participants may have regarding the proposed project. Potential participants would be given a copy of the informed consent for them to review.

2.2.1 Inclusion Criteria

1. NCAA Division I Athletes enrolled at the University of Pittsburgh

- 2. Medically eligible to compete
- 3. Agrees to adhere to study requirements
- 4. Aged 18 years or older

2.2.2 Exclusion Criteria

Children (under 18) demonstrate significant physiological differences from adults including differences in endocrine values, lean body mass, and bone composition.

2.3 Instruments

2.3.1 DXA

DXA is used to assess body composition and bone mineral density; subjects will be asked to lay still on a table as a series of body images are captured. DXA (GE Healthcare) is the most accurate technology to perform body composition scans and provides both segmented and full body information regarding body composition and bone density. Using the DXA is the most reliable and valid measurement of BMD and body composition, and the only valid measurement for segmental body composition assessment. DXA is considered as the golden standard method to assess whole-body composition, regional fat and FFM.⁵² DXA shows its advantages:1) Suitable for most athletes, 2) Fast and repeatable, 3) Able to provide regional body composition, 4) Low radiation dose and 5) Nonintrusive.⁵³ Meanwhile, DXA is suitable for assessing body composition in lean team sports athletes.⁵⁵ For taller individuals who might excess scanning bed, Santos et al. prove DXA also shows great validity and reliability.⁵⁴ For muscular athletes or obese non-athletic individuals, reflection scanning allows DXA body composition assessment.⁸⁴

2.3.2 HRpQCT

HRpQCT is a noninvasive imaging modality for assessing volumetric bone mineral density (vBMD) and microarchitecture of cancellous and cortical bone.⁸⁵ Currently, the gold standard for clinical imaging of bone mass is dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA).⁸⁵ DXA-derived areal BMD (aBMD) is a significant predictor of fracture risk; however, its predictive value is limited because (1) the aBMD in most older individuals that experience a fracture is outside the osteoporotic range (T-score < -2.5); (2) it does not differentiate between the cortical and cancellous bone compartment; and (3) additional information on bone microarchitecture—which is an indicator of bone quality and predictor of fracture—cannot be determined.⁸⁵ HRpQCT provides higher resolution images that are capable of detecting critically important microarchitectural features including trabecular thickness, connectivity, and number; cortical porosity; volume fraction; and arterial calcification which are more detailed information for bone adaptation for athletic population.

2.4 Procedures

Informed consent would be completed prior to the completion of any research related activities. The initial consent would occur at the Neuromuscular Research Laboratory. One of the listed coinvestigators named on the IRB would complete the consent process, which included all testing procedures, directly with the prospective participant. Tests may not be in this following order, but in a "round robin" fashion in order to test as many subjects as quickly as possible.

2.4.1 DXA

The scan was administered with subjects positioned supine in accordance with manufacturer recommendations. Upon lying on the open DXA table, non-invasive measurements of body composition (total body) and bone mineral density (total body, lumbar spine, hip) will be taken. 6 DXA scans were performed across the entire study. Three areas (total body, non-dominant femur, lumbar spine) were scanned during visit 1 (in January 2022) and those same three areas were scanned again during visit 2 (in July and August 2022). Subjects would be asked to take off all metal materials with them, and then laid down in the scan region with a strip holding them ankle and palms towards their body. Subjects with long hair were asked to life their hair up out of scan region. For football players, some of them exceed the DXA scan region. These athletes would be move part of their left body out of the scan region, and their right body was scanned. For tall subjects, their heads were moved out of scan region to keep their feet inside. Then, the device could calculate their whole-body data by reflection scanning.

2.4.2 HRpQCT

This test (Scanco, Switzerland) takes 3 minutes per scan and measures three-dimensional bone microarchitecture and volumetric bone mineral density, in vivo. Subjects will be asked to sit comfortably in a chair, with the non-dominant leg outstretched. Once in place, the leg will be placed into the HRpQCT machine, and non-invasive measurements of the tibia bone (distal 4% and 30% sites) will be taken. 4 HRpQCT scans will be performed across the entire study. The tibia will be scanned at 2 sites during visit 1 (pre-training) and at 2 sites during visit 2 (post-training). Reconstructed images were analyzed according to the manufacturer's standard protocol. The outer periosteal and inner endosteal surfaces of the bone were identified automatically, and segmentations were checked for accuracy and manually modified when needed. μ FE analysis (Scanco Medical FE software version 1.13) was used to estimate stiffness (kN·mm⁻¹) and failure load (kN) at both the metaphyseal and diaphyseal sites.

2.5 Data Reduction

For DXA, each scan would be checking Region of Interest (ROI) and artifacts and adjusting as needed by an investigator. Scans which could not be analyzed by computer would not be used. Then reports would be exported and checked for outlier values.

For HRpQCT, scans went through auto-contour by computer program. An investigator would manually check contours and run standard evaluation. Due to many tall subjects in football team,

30% tibia site were unable to be measured because of long tibia. Therefore, only 4% tibia data was used in this study. Finite element analysis (FEA) would be run after standard evaluation checked. At last, exported data would be checked for outliers. Due to comparability at 4% tibia, common region less than 80% would not be analyzed.

In order to include more data, position difference analysis would use Visit 1 data.

2.6 Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, median, interquartile range, proportion, as appropriate) will be calculated for all variables.

<u>Specific aims 1 and 2</u>: These aims are descriptive. Appropriate descriptive statistics will be estimated.

<u>Specific aim 3</u>: Differences in body composition and bone characteristic data between groups will be assessed using one-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis test, as appropriate. Significant omnibus tests were followed by Bonferroni adjusted pair-wise comparison, as necessary. <u>Hypothesis 3</u>: Line Group subjects might have highest body composition and bone characteristic data due to their big size, while skill group might have the lowest.

<u>Specific aim 4</u>: Body composition and bone characteristics changes from Visit 1 to Visit 2 will be assessed using paired t tests or Wilcoxon signed ranks tests, as appropriate.

<u>Hypothesis 4</u>: Body composition and bone characteristics data might increase from Visit 1 to Visit 2 because of many training programs during this period.

Statistical significance will be set a priori at alpha = 0.05, two-sided. Statistical analysis will be conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics (IBM Corp.; Armonk, NY).

3.0 Results

The purpose of this study was to compare bone characteristics differences between football players playing different positions on the field, changes in body composition and bone characteristics during January to August, and to describe of bone data for a college football team. The following sections display the analyzed results of data collected during the study. Further interpretation of the results and the conclusions they provide are detailed in the following chapter.

3.1 Demographic Information

A total of 96 subjects volunteered to participate in this study. All subjects met the required inclusion and exclusion criteria.

As mentioned before, participants were divided in to 3 groups by different positions on the football field. First is Line Group including offensive and defensive linemen (OL, DL) (N=36). Line position players are all similar in stature and generally stay near the line of scrimmage where strength is a premium with reduced requirements for speed.^{87,88} Second is Skill Group including defensive backs, wide receivers, and running backs (DB, WR, RB) (N=30). Skill Group players are traditionally the faster players on the team playing positions that require high-end speed and acceleration as well as cutting, jumping, and quick changes in direction.^{87,88} Last

is Combination Group including linebackers, tight ends, quarterbacks, and special teams (LB, TE, QB and SP) (N=26). They are not generally the fastest or the strongest players on the team but use combination of size, strength, and speed.^{87,88} There were 4 participants not on the team roaster, so they would not be included in the position analysis.

Demographic data are presented in Table 1 and 2 for Visit 1 and Visit 2. There were 17 participants dropped out in Visit 2.

	Ν	Mean	SD	Median
Height (cm)	96	186.57	7.09	187.45
Weight (kg)	96	106.10	23.10	100.38
BMI (kg \cdot m ⁻²)	96	30.25	5.08	29.05

Table 1: Visit 1 Demographic Information of Participants

Table 2: Visit 2 Demographic Information of Participants

	Ν	Mean	SD	Median
Height (cm)	79	187.80	6.42	188.47
Weight (kg)	79	107.67	22.39	103.24
BMI (kg \cdot m ⁻²)	79	30.33	5.03	29.40

3.2 Description of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics

Descriptive normative data of participants' body composition by DXA in Visit 1 are shown in

Table 3.

	N	Mean	SD	Median	25th	75th	Min.	Max.
BMI	96	30.25	5.08	29.05	25.94	34.69	22.23	42.18
Fat Mass (kg)	96	23.18	13.64	18.85	11.24	31.91	6.12	61.84
Lean Mass (kg)	96	78.77	10.00	77.66	69.59	88.63	63.45	101.52
Fat-Free Mass (kg)	96	83.10	10.37	82.05	73.75	93.39	67.14	106.53
Region %Fat	96	20.35%	8.03%	19.55%	12.58%	26.98%	7.80%	38.10%
Total Tissue %Fat	96	21.19%	8.25%	20.45%	13.25%	27.98%	8.30%	39.50%

 Table 3: Visit 1 Body Composition by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of Participants

The average BMI of subjects could be classified as Class I Obese $(30 \sim 35)$ by WHO, while the normal range is $(18.5 \sim 24.9)$. The average Total Tissue %Fat is a little higher than normal range for men aged 20-39 (8% ~ 19%). However, Total Tissue %Fat of subjects vary between individuals. The lowest Total Tissue %Fat is 8.30% while the highest is 39.50%.

Table 4 shows normative total bone data from DXA total body and femur scans in Visit 1.

	N	Mean	SD	Median	25th	75th	Min.	Max.
Total BMD (g/cm ²)	96	1.60	0.11	1.58	1.52	1.67	1.30	1.87
Legs BMD (g/cm ²)	96	1.73	0.13	1.71	1.66	1.81	1.36	2.09
Spine BMD (g/cm ²)	96	1.49	0.13	1.48	1.41	1.58	1.20	1.83
Trunk BMD (g/cm ²)	96	1.43	0.11	1.42	1.35	1.51	1.14	1.73
Total Z-Score	94	2.58	0.82	2.50	2.08	3.03	0.20	4.60
Femur Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	84	1.54	0.17	1.55	1.42	1.65	1.05	2.00
Femur Neck Z-Score	83	2.34	1.16	2.40	1.50	3.10	-0.70	5.30

Table 4: Visit 1 Bone Data by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of Participants

Table 5 shows 4% tibial bone characteristics by HRpQCT in Visit 1. Variables from HRpQCT were divided into Geometry: total bone area (Tt.Ar), cortical bone area (Ct.Ar), trabecular bone area (Tb.Ar) and cortical perimeter (Ct.Pm); Volumetric BMD (vBMD): total vBMD (Tt.vBMD), cortical vBMD (Ct.vBMD) and trabecular vBMD (Tb.vBMD); Microarchitecture: trabecular bone volume fraction (BV/TV), trabecular thickness (Tb.Th), trabecular number (Tb.N), inhomogeneity of network (Tb.1/N.SD), trabecular separation (Tb.Sp), cortical thickness (Ct.Th) and intra-cortical porosity (Ct.Po).

	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	25th	75th	Min.	Max.
Geometry								
Tt.Ar (mm ²)	74	1437.17	170.81	1416.65	1316.25	1554.33	1066.30	1887.80
Ct.Ar (mm ²)	74	155.99	35.28	149.35	132.10	172.10	92.20	265.10
Tb.Ar (mm ²)	74	1295.84	177.29	1273.35	1169.38	1432.75	924.50	1779.10
Ct.Pm (mm)	74	151.77	10.13	152.25	145.10	159.50	127.20	176.20
Volumetric BN	/ID							
Tt.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	74	321.83	34.35	316.70	294.75	341.43	260.70	412.30
Tb.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	74	266.25	25.94	264.60	244.75	281.65	223.40	331.30
Ct.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	74	785.05	40.22	787.20	761.13	814.53	679.00	867.30
Microarchitect	ture							
BV/TV	74	0.40	0.04	0.40	0.36	0.42	0.33	0.49
Tb.Th (mm)	74	0.26	0.02	0.26	0.25	0.27	0.23	0.30
Tb.N (1/mm)	74	2.10	0.22	2.06	1.95	2.26	1.58	2.64
Tb.1/N.SD	74	0.17	0.03	0.17	0.15	0.18	0.12	0.27
Tb.Sp (mm)	74	0.43	0.05	0.43	0.39	0.45	0.33	0.59
Ct.Po (%)	74	26.17	1.62	26.00	25.00	27.23	23.10	30.40
Ct.Th (mm)	74	1.23	0.35	1.15	0.98	1.38	0.63	2.60

 Table 5: Visit 1 4% Tibial Bone Characteristics by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative Computed

 Tomography of Participants

Normative data of 4% tibial stiffness and failure load from FEA of all subjects in Visit 1 were shown in Table 6.

	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	25th	75th	Min.	Max.
Stiffness (kN*mm)	70	423.66	73.63	413.62	373.40	459.17	251.08	653.60
Failure load (kN)	70	-22.45	3.76	-21.83	-24.14	-20.00	-34.77	-14.01

Table 6: Visit 1 Finite Element Analysis of Participants

3.3 Differences of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics Between Positions on

Football Court

Differences in bone characteristics between groups in Visit 1 were assessed using one-way ANOVA.

3.3.1 Position Difference in Body Composition Measured by DXA

Table 7 presented results from one-way ANOVA test for body composition between groups. Table 8 presented p-value from Bonferroni post hoc test. Variables include BMI, Lean Mass, Fat-Free Mass, Region %Fat and Tissue %Fat.

		Line	Group			Skill	Group		(Combina	tion Gro	oup	A Group
	Ν	Mean	SD	Media n	Ν	Mean	SD	Media n	Ν	Mean	SD	Media n	compariso n p-value
$\begin{array}{c} BMI \\ (kg \cdot m^{-2}) \end{array}$	36	35.06	3.60	35.96	31	25.80	2.53	25.65	26	28.83	2.15	28.95	<0.001
Fat Mass (kg)	36	35.39	11.31	38.86	31	11.29	4.41	10.13	26	19.82	5.59	18.64	<0.001
Lean Mass (kg)	36	87.36	6.91	89.32	31	69.84	4.54	68.91	26	77.26	7.38	76.25	<0.001
Fat-Free Mass (kg)	36	92.00	7.14	94.06	31	73.87	4.81	73.11	26	81.49	7.66	80.51	<0.001
Region %Fat	36	27.20 %	6.26 %	28.45 %	31	13.07 %	3.93 %	11.90 %	26	19.45 %	4.58 %	19.95 %	<0.001
Total Tissue %Fat	36	28.22 %	6.41 %	29.50 %	31	13.72 %	4.07 %	12.50 %	26	20.30 %	4.74 %	20.80 %	<0.001

Table 7: Position Difference in Body Composition, Measured by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry in Visit 1

Table 8: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Body Composition Measured by Dual-energy X-ray

	Line Group vs Skill	Line Group vs	Skill Group vs
	Group	Combination Group	Combination Group
		p-value	
BMI (kg⋅m ⁻²)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Fat Mass (kg)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Lean Mass (kg)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Fat-Free Mass (kg)	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Region %Fat	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Total Tissue %Fat	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001

Absorptiometry between Groups

There was a significant difference in BMI among positions, F(2, 90) = 88.643, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.663$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 35.06, SD = 3.60) had significantly higher BMI than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 25.80, SD = 2.53), p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher BMI than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 25.80, SD = 2.53), p < 0.001.

28.84, SD = 2.15), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher BMI than the participants in Skill Group, p < 0.001.

There was a significant difference in Fat Mass among positions, F(2, 90) = 77.399, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.632$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 35.39, SD = 11.31kg) had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 11.29, SD = 4.41kg), p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 19.82, SD = 5.59kg), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Combination

There was a significant difference in Lean Mass among positions, F(2, 90) = 63.915, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.587$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 87.36, SD = 6.91kg) had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 69.84, SD = 4.54kg), p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 77.26, SD = 7.38kg), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Lean Mass than the participants in Combination

There was a significant difference in Fat-Free Mass among positions, F(2, 90) = 63.499, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.585$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 92.00, SD = 7.14kg) had significantly higher Fat-Free Mass than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 73.87, SD = 4.81kg), p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Fat-Free Mass than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 81.49, SD = 7.66kg), p < 0.001. The participants in

Combination Group had significantly higher Fat-Free Mass than the participants in Skill Group, p < 0.001.

There was a significant difference in Region % Fat among positions, F(2, 90) = 63.889, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.587$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 27.20, SD = 6.26%) had significantly higher Region % Fat than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 13.07, SD = 3.93%), p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Region % Fat than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 19.45, SD = 4.58%), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group (Mean = 19.45, SD = 4.58%), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Region % Fat than the participants in Skill Group, p < 0.001. There was a significant difference in Tissue % Fat among positions, F(2, 90) = 63.594, p = < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.586$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 28.22, SD = 6.41%) had significantly higher Tissue % Fat than the participants in Skill Group, p < 0.001. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Tissue % Fat than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 20.30, SD = 4.74%), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Tissue % Fat than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 20.30, SD = 4.74%), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Tissue % Fat than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 20.30, SD = 4.74%), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group (Mean = 20.001. The participants in Combination Group had significantly higher Tissue % Fat than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 20.30, SD = 4.74%), p < 0.001. The participants in Skill Group, p < 0.001.

3.3.2 Position Difference in Bone Characteristics Measured by DXA

Table 9 presented one-way ANOVA results of bone data by DXA among groups. Table 10 listed Bonferroni hoc post test p-value for groups. Variables include Total BMD, Legs BMD, Spine BMD, Trunk BMD, Total Z-Score, Femur Neck BMD and Femur Neck Z-Score.

		Lin	e Group			Skil	l Group			Combin	roup	Group	
	N	Mean	SD	Median	N	Mean	SD	Median	N	Mean	SD	Median	p-value
Total BMD (g/cm ²)	36	1.64	0.10	1.62	31	1.57	0.10	1.55	26	1.57	0.11	1.55	0.015
Legs BMD (g/cm ²)	36	1.78	0.12	1.77	31	1.69	0.10	1.69	26	1.69	0.13	1.67	0.003
Spine BMD (g/cm ²)	36	1.55	0.13	1.53	31	1.44	0.11	1.44	26	1.47	0.13	1.48	0.003
Trunk BMD (g/cm ²)	36	1.47	0.11	1.45	31	1.40	0.10	1.39	26	1.41	0.13	1.40	0.020
Total Z- Score	34	2.74	0.90	2.75	31	2.47	0.76	2.30	26	2.48	0.82	2.50	0.331
Femur Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	30	1.60	0.16	1.58	28	1.53	0.14	1.57	23	1.46	0.20	1.43	0.014
Femur Neck Z- Score	29	2.73	1.22	2.90	28	2.25	0.95	2.50	23	1.96	1.27	2.00	0.064

Table 9: Position Differences of Bone Data, Measured by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry in Visit 1

Table 10: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Bone Data by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry

between Groups

	Line Group vs	Line Group vs	Skill Group vs
	Skill Group	Combination Group	Combination Group
		p-value	
Total BMD (g/cm ²)	0.035	0.047	1.000
Legs BMD (g/cm ²)	0.009	0.013	1.000
Spine BMD (g/cm ²)	0.003	0.076	1.000
Trunk BMD (g/cm ²)	0.024	0.145	1.000
Femur Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	0.331	0.011	0.453

There was a significant difference in Total BMD among positions, F(2, 90) = 4.400, p = 0.015, $\eta^2 = 0.089$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1.64, SD = 0.10 g/cm²) had significantly higher Total BMD than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.57, SD = 0.10 g/cm²), p = 0.035. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Total BMD than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1.57, SD = 0.11 g/cm²), p < 0.001. There was no significant difference in Total BMD among participants in Skill Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Legs BMD among positions, F(2, 90) = 6.259, p = 0.003, $\eta^2 = 0.122$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1.78, SD = 0.12 g/cm²) had significantly higher Legs BMD than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.69, SD = 0.10 g/cm²), p = 0.009. The participants in Line Group had significantly higher Legs BMD than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1.69, SD = 0.13 g/cm²), p = 0.013. There was no significant difference in Legs BMD among participants in Skill Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Spine BMD among positions, F(2, 90) = 6.133, p = 0.003, $\eta^2 = 0.120$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1.55, SD = 0.13 g/cm²) had significantly higher Spine BMD than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.44, SD = 0.11 g/cm²), p = 0.003. There was no significant difference in Spine BMD among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 0.076. There was no significant difference in Spine BMD among participants in Skill Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Trunk BMD among positions, F(2, 90) = 4.098, p = 0.020, $\eta^2 = 0.084$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1.47, SD = 0.11 g/cm²) had significantly

higher Trunk BMD than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.40, SD = 0.10 g/cm^2), p = 0.024. There was no significant difference in Trunk BMD among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 0.145. There was no significant difference in Spine BMD among participants in Skill Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Femur Neck BMD among positions, F(2, 78) = 4.548, p = 0.014, $\eta^2 = 0.104$. The participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.53, SD = 0.14 g/cm²) had significantly higher Femur Neck BMD than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1.46, SD = 0.20 g/cm²), p = 0.011. There was no significant difference in Trunk BMD among participants in Line Group and Skill Group, p = 0.331. There was no significant difference in Spine BMD among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 0.453.

Total Z-Score and Femur Neck Z-Score were not significantly different among positions.

3.3.3 Position Differences in Bone Characteristics Measured by HRpQCT

For bone characteristics data by HRpQCT, variables include Tt.Ar, Ct.Ar, TbAr, Ct.Pm, Tt.vBMD, Ct.vBMD, Tb.vBMD, BV/TV, Tb.Th, Tb.N, Tb.1/N.SD, Tb.Sp, Ct.Po and Ct.Th.

3.3.3.1 Bone Geometry Position Differences

Table 11 presented results from one-way ANOVA test for bone geometry between groups. Table12 presented p-value from Bonferroni-adjusted pair-wise comparisons.

		Lin	e Group			Sk	ill Group		Combination Group				Group
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	n p-value
Geom	etry												
Tt.Ar (mm ²)	26	1528.2 9	168.1 0	1518.50	25	1327.2 8	125.97	1345.60	21	1461.6 4	153.7 1	1528.90	<0.001
Ct.Ar (mm ²)	26	172.01	38.94	158.60	25	149.03	28.18	148.20	21	144.41	33.81	133.90	0.013
Tb.Ar (mm ²)	26	1364.5 2	177.4 9	1330.05	25	1185.7 4	134.16	1196.80	21	1349.0 8	164.4 6	1399.30	<0.001
Ct.Pm (mm)	26	157.05	10.35	154.15	25	144.89	7.36	146.60	21	153.74	8.30	154.90	<0.001

Table 11: Position Difference in Bone Geometry, Measured by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative

Computed Tomography in Visit 1

Table 12: Bonferroni-adjusted Pair-wise Comparisons, of Bone Geometery Measured by High-resolution

Peripheral Quantitative	Computed	Tomography	between	Groups
--------------------------------	----------	------------	---------	--------

	Line Group vs	Line Group vs	Skill Group vs
	Skill Group	Combination Group	Combination Group
Geometry			
		p-value	
Tt.Ar (mm ²)	<0.001	0.406	0.011
Ct.Ar (mm ²)	0.056	0.022	1.000
Tb.Ar (mm ²)	<0.001	1.000	0.003
Ct.Pm (mm)	<0.001	0.613	0.003

There was a significant difference in Tt.Ar among positions, F(2, 69) = 11.724, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 =$

0.253. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1528.29, SD = 168.10 mm^2) had significantly

higher Tt.Ar than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1327.28, SD = 125.97 mm²), p <

0.001. The participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1461.64, SD = 153.71 mm²) had

significantly higher Tt.Ar than the participants in Skill Group, p = 0.011. There was no

significant difference in Tt.Ar among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 0.406.

There was a significant difference in Ct.Ar among positions, F(2, 69) = 4.625, p = 0.013, $\eta^2 = 0.118$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 172.01, SD = 38.94 mm²) had significantly higher Ct.Ar than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 144.41, SD = 33.81 mm²), p = 0.022. There was no significant difference in Ct.Ar among participants in Line Group and Skill Group (Mean = 149.03, SD = 28.18 mm²), p = 0.056. There was no significant difference in Ct.Ar among participants in Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Tb.Ar among positions, F(2, 69) = 9.502, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.216$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 1364.52, SD = 177.49 mm²) had significantly higher Tb.Ar than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1185.74, SD = 134.16 mm²), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1349.08, SD = 164.46 mm²) had significantly higher Tb.Ar than the participants in Skill Group, p = 0.003. There was no significant difference in Tb.Ar among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Ct.Pm among positions, F(2, 69) = 12.827, p < 0.001, $\eta^2 = 0.271$. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 157.05, SD = 10.35 mm) had significantly higher Ct.Pm than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 144.89, SD = 7.36 mm), p < 0.001. The participants in Combination Group (Mean = 1349.83, SD = 160.53 mm²) had significantly higher

Ct.Pm than the participants in Skill Group, p = 0.001. There was no significant difference in Ct.Pm among participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

3.3.3.2 Position Differences in Volumetric BMD

Table 13 presented results from one-way ANOVA test for volumetric BMD between groups.

There were no significant differences in Tt.vBMD, Ct.vBMD and Tb.vBMD among positions.

Table 13: Position Difference of Volumetric BMD by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative Computed

		Line Group				Skill Group				Combina	Group		
	N	Mean	SD	Media n	N	Mean	SD	Median	Ν	Mean	SD	Media n	compariso n p-value
Volumetric BMD													
Tt.vBMD (g/cm ²)	26	321.92	34.32	316.40	25	327.15	28.18	328.30	21	315.23	40.93	304.60	0.550
Ct.vBMD (g/cm ²)	26	791.99	42.54	790.10	25	793.07	33.34	787.40	21	767.12	41.50	762.20	0.051
Tb.vBM D (g/cm ²)	26	263.13	27.37	255.55	25	268.97	20.93	271.20	21	267.60	30.10	265.75	0.711

Tomography in Visit 1

3.3.3.3 Microarchitecture Position Differences

Table 14 presented results from one-way ANOVA test for bone geometry between groups. Table

15 presented p-value from Bonferroni post hoc test.

Table 14: Position Difference of Bone Characteristics by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative Computed

		Line	Group			Skil	l Group			Combin	ation Gro	up	Group
	N	Mean	SD	Media n	Ν	Mean	SD	Media n	N	Mean	SD	Media n	n p-value
Microar	Microarchitecture												
BV/TV	26	0.392	0.040	0.382	25	0.400	0.032	0.401	21	0.398	0.050	0.399	0.783
Tb.Th (mm)	26	0.261	0.016	0.261	25	0.264	0.015	0.264	21	0.261	0.018	0.257	0.779
Tb.N	26	2.174	0.220	2.159	25	1.984	0.214	1.991	21	2.173	0.164	2.176	0.002
Tb.1/N.S D	26	0.162	0.024	0.161	25	0.178	0.031	0.177	21	0.160	0.017	0.160	0.021
Tb.Sp (mm)	26	0.417	0.049	0.422	25	0.447	0.058	0.440	21	0.409	0.037	0.407	0.025
Ct.Po (mm)	26	0.027	0.016	0.024	25	0.027	0.014	0.023	21	0.027	0.013	0.025	0.984
Ct.Th (mm)	26	1.338	0.416	1.204	25	1.208	0.260	1.261	21	1.135	0.350	1.049	0.132

Tomography in Visit 1

Table 15: Bonferroni Multiple Comparisons of Microarchitecture by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative

Computed Tomography between Groups

	Line Group vs	Line Group vs	Skill Group vs
	Skill Group	Combination Group	Combination Group
Microarchite	ecture		
		p-value	
Tb.N	0.004	1.000	0.008
Tb.1/N.SD	0.063	1.000	0.039
Tb.Sp (mm)	0.109	1.000	0.034

There was a significant difference in Tb.N among positions, F(2, 69) = 7.101, p = 0.002, $\eta^2 =$

0.171. The participants in Line Group (Mean = 2.174, SD = 0.220) had significantly higher Tb.N

than the participants in Skill Group (Mean = 1.984, SD = 0.214), p = 0.004. The participants in

Combination Group (Mean = 2.173, SD = 0.164) had significantly higher Tb.N than the

participants in Skill Group, p = 0.008. There was no significant difference in Tb.N among

participants in Line Group and Combination Group, p = 1.000.

There was a significant difference in Tb.1/N.SD among positions, F(2, 69) = 4.086, p = 0.021, $\eta^2 = 0.104$. The participants in Skill Group (Mean = 0.178, SD = 0.031) had significantly lower Tb.1/N.SD than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 0.160, SD = 0.017), p = 0.039. There was no significant difference in Tb.1/N.SD among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.162, SD = 0.024) and Skill Group, p = 0.063. There was no significant difference in Tb.1/N.SD among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.160, SD = 0.024) and Skill Group, p = 0.063. There was no significant difference in Tb.1/N.SD among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.162, SD = 0.024) and Skill Group, p = 0.063. There was no significant difference in Tb.1/N.SD

There was a significant difference in Tb.Sp among positions, F(2, 69) = 3.885, p = 0.025, $\eta^2 = 0.102$. The participants in Skill Group (Mean = 0.447, SD = 0.058) had significantly higher Tb.Sp than the participants in Combination Group (Mean = 0.409, SD = 0.037), p = 0.024. There was no significant difference in Tb.Sp among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.417, SD = 0.049) and Skill Group, p = 0.109. There was no significant difference in Tb.Sp among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.417, SD = 0.049) and Skill Group, p = 0.109. There was no significant difference in Tb.Sp among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.417, SD = 0.049) and Skill Group, p = 0.109. There was no significant difference in Tb.Sp among participants in Line Group (Mean = 0.417, SD = 0.049) and Skill Group, p = 0.109. There was no significant difference in Tb.Sp among

There were no significant differences in BV/TV, Tb.Th, Ct.Po and Ct.Th among positions.

3.3.4 Position Differences of FEA Data in Visit 1

For Bone FEA data, variables include Stiffness and Failure load. Position differences were presented in Table 16.

There was no significant difference in Stiffness and Failure load between groups.

	Line Group				Skill Group				Combination Group				Group
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	ison p- value
Stiffness (kN*mm)	24	440.65	85.16	421.50	24	412.29	59.61	408.92	20	417.88	77.43	420.23	0.389
Failure load (kN)	24	-23.49	4.38	-22.19	24	-21.71	3.06	-21.50	20	-22.13	3.83	-22.45	0.246

 Table 16: Position Differences of FEA Data between Groups

3.4 Changes in Body Composition and Bone Characteristics from Visit 1 to 2

Changes in body composition and bone characteristics were assessed using a pre-post comparison of variables measured at participants' Visit 1 and 2.

3.4.1 Changes in Body Composition Measured by DXA

For body composition by DXA, variables include BMI, Fat Mass, Lean Mass, Fat-Free Mass,

Region %Fat and Total Tissue %Fat. Changes in these variables are presented in Table 17.

Table 17: Body	Composition Differences from	Visit 1 to 2 Measured	by Dual-energy	X-ray Absorptione	etry of
		Participants			

			Visit 1					
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Mean	SD	Median	p-value
BMI (kg \cdot m ⁻²)	79	30.54	5.15	29.17	30.33	5.03	29.40	0.082
Fat Mass (kg)	79	23.58	13.62	18.40	23.48	13.26	19.28	0.738
Lean Mass (kg)	79	78.98	10.03	79.30	79.86	10.12	80.27	<0.001
Fat-Free Mass (kg)	79	83.38	10.35	83.99	84.21	10.49	84.72	0.001

Region %Fat	79	20.60%	8.08%	19.50%	20.44%	8.07%	19.60%	0.396
Total Tissue %Fat	79	21.46%	8.30%	20.40%	21.28%	8.30%	20.40%	0.378

Lean mass of participants in Visit 2 (79.86 \pm 10.12, 80.27kg) was significantly higher than Lean Mass in Visit 1 (78.98 \pm 10.03, 79.30kg, p < 0.001). Fat-Free Mass of participants in Visit 2 (79.86 \pm 10.12, 80.27kg) was significantly higher than Fat-Free Mass in Visit 1 (78.98 \pm 10.03, 79.30kg, p < 0.001).

3.4.2 Changes in Bone Data by DXA

For bone data by DXA, variables were presented in Table 18 including Total BMD, Legs BMD, Spine BMD, Trunk BMD, Total Z-score, Femur Neck BMD and Femur Neck Z-score.

			Visit 1			Visit 2		
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Mean	SD	Median	p-value
Total BMD (g/cm ²)	79	1.59	0.10	1.58	1.60	0.10	1.58	0.614
Legs BMD (g/cm ²)	79	1.72	0.13	1.71	1.73	0.12	1.72	0.482
Spine BMD (g/cm ²)	79	1.49	0.13	1.48	1.51	0.13	1.49	0.029
Trunk BMD (g/cm ²)	79	1.428	0.111	1.409	1.434	0.109	1.422	0.015
Total Z-Score	76	2.59	0.81	2.50	2.58	0.83	2.60	0.778
Femur Neck BMD (g/cm ²)	71	1.53	0.18	1.55	1.53	0.19	1.53	0.827
Femur Neck Z-Score	69	2.30	1.22	2.40	2.30	1.32	2.20	0.844

 Table 18: Bone Data Differences between Visit 1 and 2 Measured by Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry of

 Participants

Spine BMD of participants in Visit 2 (1.51 \pm 0.13, 1.49g/cm²) was significantly higher than Spine BMD in Visit 1 (1.49 \pm 0.13, 1.48g/cm², p = 0.029). Trunk BMD of participants in Visit 2 (1.43 \pm 0.11, 1.42g/cm²) was significantly higher than Trunk BMD in Visit 1 (1.43 \pm 0.11, 1.41g/cm², p = 0.015).

There were no significant changes for Total BMD, Legs BMD, Total Z-Score, Femur Neck BMD and Femur Neck Z-Score.

3.4.3 Changes of Bone Characteristics at 4% Tibia by HRpQCT

For bone characteristic data by HRpQCT at 4% tibia, variables were presented in Table 19 including Ct.Ar, Tb.Ar, Ct.Pm, Tt.vBMD, Tb.vBMD, Ct.vBMD, BV/TV, Tb.Th, Tb.N, Tb.1/N.SD, Tb.Sp, Ct.Po and Ct.Th. There were 5 participants having less than 80% common region of the second scan at 4% tibia, therefore they were removed in comparison.

 Table 19: Bone Characteristics Differences between Visit 1 and 2 by High-resolution Peripheral Quantitative

 Computed Tomography of Participants

			Visit 1								
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Mean	SD	Median	p-value			
Geometry											
Ct.Ar (mm ²)	52	157.85	36.82	149.75	160.63	37.96	151.10	0.003			
Tb.Ar (mm ²)	52	1283.20	180.65	1242.20	1280.36	181.28	1239.15	<0.001*			
Ct.Pm (mm)	52	151.30	10.31	151.65	151.09	10.48	151.60	0.301			
Volumetric 3	Volumetric BMD										

Tt.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	52	323.65	33.57	318.70	326.97	33.62	322.40	<0.001
Tb.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	52	267.59	26.21	264.90	269.83	25.82	267.50	<0.001*
Ct.vBMD (mg*HA/cm ³)	52	782.98	38.78	784.20	786.32	41.43	780.50	0.034
Microarchit	ecture							
BV/TV	52	0.399	0.039	0.396	0.402	0.039	0.399	<0.001
Tb.Th (mm)	52	0.262	0.016	0.262	0.265	0.016	0.263	<0.001
Tb.N (1/mm)	52	2.099	0.229	2.083	2.137	0.252	2.155	0.039
Tb.1/N.SD	52	0.167	0.025	0.166	0.165	0.028	0.160	0.117
Tb.Sp (mm)	52	0.427	0.052	0.425	0.420	0.057	0.413	0.047*
Ct.Po (%)	52	2.81	1.56	2.25	2.79	1.66	2.50	0.893
Ct.Th (mm)	52	1.26	0.37	1.16	1.28	0.37	1.21	0.013*

*Nonparametric test

For Geometry aspect, Ct.Ar of participants in Visit 2 (160.63 ± 37.96 , 151.10mm²) was significantly higher than Ct.Ar in Visit 1 (157.85 ± 10.31 , 149.75mm², p = 0.003). Tb.Ar of participants in Visit 2 (1283.36 ± 181.28 , 1239.15mm²) was significantly higher than Tb.Ar in Visit 1 (1283.20 ± 180.65 , 1242.20mm², p < 0.001).

For vBMD aspect, Tt.vBMD of participants in Visit 2 (326.97 ± 33.62 , $322.40 \text{ mg*HA/cm}^3$) was significantly higher than Tt.vBMD in Visit 1 (323.65 ± 33.57 , $318.70 \text{ mg*HA/cm}^3$, p < 0.001). Tb.vBMD of participants in Visit 2 (267.59 ± 26.21 , 264.90mg*HA/cm^3) was significantly higher than Tb.vBMD in Visit 1 (268.83 ± 25.82 , 267.50mg*HA/cm^3 , p < 0.001).

For microarchitecture aspect, BV/TV of participants in Visit 2 (0.402 ± 0.039 , 0.399) was significantly higher than BV/TV in Visit 1 (0.399 ± 0.039 , 0.396, p < 0.001). Tb.Th of participants in Visit 2 (0.265 ± 0.016 , 0.263mm, p < 0.001) was significantly higher than Tb.Th

in Visit 1 (0.262 \pm 0.039, 0.262mm, p < 0.001). Tb.N of participants in Visit 2 (2.137 \pm 0.252, 2.155 1/mm) was significantly higher than Tb.N in Visit 1 (2.099 \pm 0.229, 2.083 1/mm, p < 0.001). Tb.Sp of participants in Visit 2 (0.420 \pm 0.057, 0.413mm) were significantly higher than Tb.Sp in Visit 1 (0.427 \pm 0.052, 0.425mm, p < 0.001). Ct.Th of participants in Visit 2 (1.28 \pm 0.37, 1.21mm) were significantly higher than Ct.Th in Visit 1 (1.26 \pm 0.37, 1.16mm, p = 0.013).

There was no significant changes for Ct.Pm, Tb.1/N.SD and Ct.Po.

3.4.4 Changes of FEA Data at 4% Tibia

For FEA data at 4% tibia, variables were presented in Table 20 including Stiffness and Failure Load. There were no significant changes for Stiffness and Failure Load.

			Visit 1					
	Ν	Mean	SD	Median	Mean	SD	Median	p-value
Stiffness (kN)	55	422.82	75.00	410.01	421.62	76.93	409.00	0.727
Failure Load (kN)	55	-22.38	3.85	-21.77	-22.34	3.97	-21.69	0.818

Table 20: Finite Element Analysis Difference between Visit 1 and 2 of Participats

4.0 Discussion

Body composition and bone characteristics play an important role on football players' health and performance. Previous studies presented comparison of body composition and some bone data of similar positions and body composition adaptations to training programs or over a certain period of training.^{4,15,17,19,49,60} However, there are limited studies looking into bone geometry and bone microarchitecture. The BoBCAT study recruited different sports teams of the University of Pittsburgh to see how specific sports exercise affect bone adaptation. It provided us a chance to have a first view of bone characteristics of colligate football players. Although there were limitations the purpose of this study was to provide normative ranges of body composition and bone characteristics data of a colligate football team and investigate position differences and changes between two visits. The results gave us ranges of body composition and bone characteristics. Moreover, the results revealed position differences of bone data. Skill group was found to be the most unique group compared to other two groups. For changes between two visits, specific area BMD, bone geometry and some of bone microarchitecture did change.

4.1.1 Provide Normative Ranges of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics Data of a Division-1 Colligative Football Team

The results from this study show normative ranges of body composition and characteristics of a D1 champion colligative football team which could give other teams a referential standard for their players.

Football players usually have higher BMI. Results revealed participants in this study had a mean BMI ($30.25 \pm 5.08 \text{ kg/m}^2$) which can be classified as Class I obese ($30.0-34.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$). It is consistent with other studies.^{2,4,60} Total Tissue % Fat ($21.19 \pm 8.25\%$) was a little higher than previous report.⁸⁹ It might be caused by not giving them a positional description. In a previous study, offensive and defensive linemen usually have much higher % body fat, which could increase the mean total tissue % fat of the whole team.^{60,89} However, lean mass is not considered in BMI, which can mistakenly categorize many football players who have relatively low % body fat as obese.

4.1.2 Position Differences of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics

For position differences in body composition, Line Group subjects had the highest variables like both fat mass and lean mass followed by Combination Group subjects. Subjects in Skill Group had the lowest variables. Results are similar to the study by Bosch et. al., according to standard BMI classifications, the linemen position group would be classified as severely obese (BMI >35 kg·m⁻²), the LB/TE/RB position group would be classified as moderately obese (BMI, 30–34.9 kg·m⁻²), and the WR/DB position group would be classified as overweight (BMI, 25–29.9 kg·m⁻²).⁹⁹ Unlike the BMI classifications, only the linemen are classified as obese (>24%) using standard percent body fat classifications. The other 2 position groups would be classified as acceptable (15–20%) or healthy (11–14%).⁹⁹ However in this study, Combination Group players would be classified as overweight as well. Only Line Group players would be classified as obese.

55

As what was hypothesized, Line Group had the highest BMD totally and regionally. In adolescence, Free-Fat Mass and grip strength were revealed positively associated with BMD both in boys and girls.¹⁰⁰ Therefore, Line Group players had higher BMD than other two groups of players. It is consistent with their larger body size and weight than other two groups which had been described by Bosch et al.⁶⁰ Athletes in the Skill and Combination group have similar BMD data.

However, when it comes to bone geometry, the Skill group has the smallest Tt.Ar, Tb.Ar and Ct.Pm among 3 groups, while Ct.Ar has no significant difference among groups. Previous study revealed link between bone cross-sectional properties and body composition.⁹⁰ People with larger lean mass could have larger bone cross-sectional properties such as Ct.Ar.⁹⁰ Due to position difference, football players have different on-court movement and functional movements in training. Skill Group players have relativly more running tasks, while Line Group Players have more pushing or contact movements. In a study by Ward et al., running backs and wide receivers had the most running distance in training while defense and offense linemen had less high-speed running distance but a higher amount of nonrunning activities.⁹⁸ Skill group players have many sprinting or changing movements. As it mentioned before, cortical bone is stronger than trabecular bone and it can increase bone's capability to tolerate sudden high-impact forces.¹² Therefore, although the Skill group players have smallest Tt.Ar and Tb.Ar, they have similar Ct.Ar to other groups.

56

In microarchitecture comparison, the Skill group had the lowest Tb.N but highest Tb.Sp and Tb.1/N.SD. Due to limited research about body composition and body size, these differences might relate to body mass of players. A study by Sode et al. presented regional trabecular distribution related to age and sex.⁹⁵ However, most studies focus on bone architecture with various diseases, because trabecular bone also takes account for part of bone strength.¹² Future research is needed to investigate reasons for differences of bone microarchitecture among athletes. Since there was no significance difference between bone strength and failure load, and z-score of these players (2.58 ± 0.82) is much greater than 1, clinicians might not be concerned about their bone health or risk for bone stress injury. However, there is lack of research to discover relations between these number to plays' performance.

4.1.3 Changes of Body Composition and Bone Characteristics between 2 Visits

It was hypothesized that components of body composition like lean mass and bone characteristics data would increase between the two visits.

The results showed lean mass and fat free mass in Visit 2 were significantly larger than those in Visit 1, which is consistent with a previous study measuring data during a similar period.^{49,91} In a study by Trexler et al., football players' Lean mass increased from May to pre-season. Spine and trunk BMD increased in Visit 2 which is similar to a previous study's results as well. BMD increased in Create in the Trexler et al. study.⁹¹ In another study, high intensity functional training with a minimum twice a week for 16-weeks was revealed could improve BMC, and women were favored to have this improvement than men.⁹⁶

For bone geometry at the 4% tibia site, this study presented increases in Ct.Ar and Tb.Ar from Visit 1 and Visit 2. For volumetric BMD, Tt.vBMD, Ct.vBMD and Tb.BMD all increased significantly. For bone microarchitecture, BV/TV, Tb.Th, Tb.N, Tb.Sp and Ct.Th increased significantly from Visit 1 to Visit 2. Due to this study being the first to utilize HRpQCT with football players, it is difficult to explain these changes. This was found similar to gymnasts after training in BoBCAT study. Most application of HRpQCT with an athletic population has studies females athletes, especially female adolescent and amenorrhea athletes.^{92,93} However, in a study by Best et al., runners showed greater bone mineral density and some higher trabecular bone variables than nonrunners, and demonstrated a difference in trabecular bone of the calcaneus between forefoot strikers and rearfoot strikers.⁹⁴ Therefore, the accumulation of physical exercise and different functional movements can cause difference and changes in bone characteristics, which as it was showed in this study of football players. Another study using pQCT to detect bone adaptation under increased training volume of soccer players.⁹⁷ Increased density of trabecular and cortical compartments and cortical thickening were shown following an increased volume of training for adolescent subjects.⁹⁷ In O'Leary et. al. study, researchers tracked macrostructure and microstructure tibial bone adaptation in young female warfighters receiving long period military training.¹⁰¹ They measured 4% and 30% tibial site by HRpQCT in 1, 14, 28 and 44 week. They found temporal decrease in trabecular area in 1 to 14 week, and increase in trabecular bone volume fraction, cortical area and cortical thickness at 4% tibia site in 1 to 44 week.¹⁰¹ Fail Load increased in 1 to 44 week.¹⁰¹ Results of their study are similar to data from football players. Decrease in trabecular bone area could be a sign for bone remodeling.

However, bone stiffness and failure load had no significant change from Visit 1 to Visit 2. This data can provide insight to how long or what training program can induce increase in bone stiffness and failure load.

4.2 Limitation and Future Study Directions

The first limitation of this study is that the data collection was done in a vague period time. Visit 1 data was collected in January 2022 when the football season was just finished, and Visit 2 data was collected in July and August 2022 in which the pre-season practice had already begun. Commonly, a complete season is break down into off-season, pre-season, in-season and postseason. However, Visit 1 and 2 included off-season and pre-season. It was difficult to determine when these changes happened. It is more reasonable to collect these data in a particular period listed above. Another limitation is that there was only the University of Pittsburgh football participating in this study. There were not enough players to be divided into more specific position group. All the players available were grouped into a Line, Skill and Combination Group, unlike in the study by Bosch et al. study, where there were over 400 players from 4 D1 university football teams which was a large enough sample to be more specific divided.⁶⁰ One more limitation is that the study did not analyze data changes of Visit 1 and 2 by positions but as a whole team. It will be more practical for not only coaches, trainers and physicians but also sports scientists to know how bone data change by position over a period of time. Another issue is that DXA and HRpQCT did not well fit football players' body size. Football players playing some specific positions are too tall and wide for these devices. Therefore, some data had to be

59

excluded and investigators had to use some methods to make up unmeasurable data. For example, in this study, HRpQCT scans at 30% tibia site were excluded, because some tall individuals have too long tibias to fit in HRpQCT device, while they are an important part in the football team.

This study is a first glance at football players' bone characteristics by HRpQCT. More studies are needed to be done on planning to collect certain period of bone data in a season to see how their bone characteristics change and explain the reason why some particular variables change. Moreover, how trabecular bone and cortical bone being formed, resorbed or transformed during training remains unknown. This could indicate physiology changes relating to some injuries or sports performance which are significant for sports teams to monitor players' health. However, this needs more study to be done to know what each bone characteristic variable presents for. Limited research elaborated clearly how these variables affect bone physiology condition not to mention sports performance. Future research should investigate a larger sample of football players from different competition levels to have a thorough view of bone physiology of football players. When a series of normative ranges for body composition and bone characteristics being investigated, it will be efficiency to assess a player's physical abilities to determine if he can play in a certain competition level.

4.3 Conclusion

This study is a first application of HRpQCT on NCAA Division I football players, some of whom might go on to play in professionally. This study provides researchers a new direction to have more various population scanned by HRpQCT. Current HRpQCT research is more focused on some metabolism diseases, elder population and athletes with high risk of stress fractures. For football players, this study did present a normative data of a collegiate football team. Moreover, there were significant differences among different position groups, and bone architecture variables did have significant changes during off-season and preseason period. These differences and changes could not be clearly explained because of limited information about how bone variables are related to athletic population with different body composition. However, this study could still guide future research in bone characteristics of athletic population and how bone characteristics relate to sports performance.
Appendix A Participants and Position

Subject ID	Position	Subject ID	Position	Subject ID	Position
94	LB	126	QB	158	Р
95	TE	127	QB	159	LS
96	DL	128	DL	160	QB
97	DL	129	DL	161	DL
98	DL	130	OL	162	*
99	DL	131	OL	163	DL
100	LB	132	OL	164	WR
101	OL	133	*	165	LS
102	DL	134	WR	166	WR
103	TE	135	DB	167	WR
104	OL	136	DB	168	OL
105	OL	137	OL	169	PK/P
106	OL	138	DB	170	LB
107	OL	139	TE	171	Р
108	RB	140	WR	172	DB
109	RB	141	WR	173	WR
110	LB	142	TE	174	WR
111	LB	143	TE	175	WR
112	LB	144	LB	176	DB
113	LB	145	LB	177	WR
114	LB	146	DB	178	DL
115	LB	147	*	179	DL
116	DB	148	OL	180	DL
117	DL	149	DL	181	РК
118	DB	150	DB	182	DB
119	DL	151	DB	183	DB
120	DB	152	DL	184	OL
121	DL	153	RB	185	OL
122	DB	154	LB	186	OL
123	DB	155	RB	187	OL
124	DB	156	OL	188	DL
125	QB	157	РК	189	WR

*Subjects not on 2022 roaster

Bibliography

- Knapik DM, Mack CD, Lee R, et al. Epidemiology of Tibial Fractures in Professional American Football Athletes From 2013 to 2019. *Orthop J Sports Med*. 2021;9(11):23259671211040878. Published 2021 Nov 11. doi:10.1177/23259671211040878
- Mack CD, Kent RW, Coughlin MJ, et al. Incidence of Lower Extremity Injury in the National Football League: 2015 to 2018. *Am J Sports Med*. 2020;48(9):2287-2294. doi:10.1177/0363546520922547
- 3. Bilsborough JC, Greenway K, Opar D, Livingstone S, Cordy J, Coutts AJ. The accuracy and precision of DXA for assessing body composition in team sport athletes. *J Sports Sci*. 2014;32(19):1821-1828. doi:10.1080/02640414.2014.926380
- 4. Dengel DR, Bosch TA, Burruss TP, et al. Body composition and bone mineral density of national football league players. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2014;28(1):1-6. doi:10.1519/JSC.0000000000299
- Pryor JL, Huggins RA, Casa DJ, Palmieri GA, Kraemer WJ, Maresh CM. A profile of a National Football League team. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2014;28(1):7-13. doi:10.1519/JSC.00000000000303
- Bosch TA, Burruss TP, Weir NL, et al. Abdominal body composition differences in NFL football players. *J Strength Cond Res*. 2014;28(12):3313-3319. doi:10.1519/JSC.0000000000650
- Farr, J. N., & Khosla, S. (2015). Skeletal changes through the lifespan--from growth to senescence. *Nature reviews. Endocrinology*, *11*(9), 513–521. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrendo.2015.89
- Pistoia W, van Rietbergen B, Lochmüller EM, Lill CA, Eckstein F, Rüegsegger P. Estimation of distal radius failure load with micro-finite element analysis models based on three-dimensional peripheral quantitative computed tomography images. *Bone*. 2002;30(6):842-848. doi:10.1016/s8756-3282(02)00736-6
- 9. Laib A, Rüegsegger P. Calibration of trabecular bone structure measurements of in vivo three-dimensional peripheral quantitative computed tomography with 28-microm-resolution microcomputed tomography. *Bone*. 1999;24(1):35-39. doi:10.1016/s8756-3282(98)00159-8
- Pocock NA, Eisman JA, Hopper JL, Yeates MG, Sambrook PN, Eberl S. Genetic determinants of bone mass in adults. A twin study. *J Clin Invest*. 1987;80(3):706-710. doi:10.1172/JCI113125
- 11. Clarke B. (2008). Normal bone anatomy and physiology. *Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN*, *3 Suppl 3*(Suppl 3), S131–S139. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.04151206
- 12. Hart, N. H., Newton, R. U., Tan, J., Rantalainen, T., Chivers, P., Siafarikas, A., & Nimphius, S. (2020). Biological basis of bone strength: anatomy, physiology and measurement. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, *20*(3), 347–371.

- Korhonen, M. T., Heinonen, A., Siekkinen, J., Isolehto, J., Alén, M., Kiviranta, I., & Suominen, H. (2012). Bone density, structure and strength, and their determinants in aging sprint athletes. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 44(12), 2340–2349. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e318267c954
- Malousaris, G. G., Bergeles, N. K., Barzouka, K. G., Bayios, I. A., Nassis, G. P., & Koskolou, M. D. (2008). Somatotype, size and body composition of competitive female volleyball players. *Journal of science and medicine in sport*, *11*(3), 337–344. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2006.11.008
- 15. Boykin, J. R., Tinsley, G. M., Harrison, C. M., Prather, J., Zaragoza, J., Tinnin, M., Smith, S., Wilson, C., & Taylor, L. W. (2021). Offseason Body Composition Changes Detected by Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry versus Multifrequency Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis in Collegiate American Football Athletes. *Sports (Basel, Switzerland)*, 9(8), 112. https://doi.org/10.3390/sports9080112
- 16. Leão, C., Simões, M., Silva, B., Clemente, F. M., Bezerra, P., & Camões, M. (2017). Body Composition Evaluation Issue among Young Elite Football Players: DXA Assessment. Sports (Basel, Switzerland), 5(1), 17. https://doi.org/10.3390/sports5010017
- Raymond, C. J., Dengel, D. R., & Bosch, T. A. (2018). Total and Segmental Body Composition Examination in Collegiate Football Players Using Multifrequency Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis and Dual X-ray Absorptiometry. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *32*(3), 772–782. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002320
- 18. Chen, F., Su, Q., Tu, Y., Zhang, J., Chen, X., Zhao, T., Huang, Y., & Xu, G. (2020). Maximal muscle strength and body composition are associated with bone mineral density in chinese adult males. *Medicine*, 99(6), e19050. https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.00000000019050
- Melvin, M. N., Smith-Ryan, A. E., Wingfield, H. L., Ryan, E. D., Trexler, E. T., & Roelofs, E. J. (2014). Muscle characteristics and body composition of NCAA division I football players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 28(12), 3320–3329. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000000651
- 20. Schipilow, J. D., Macdonald, H. M., Liphardt, A. M., Kan, M., & Boyd, S. K. (2013). Bone micro-architecture, estimated bone strength, and the muscle-bone interaction in elite athletes: an HR-pQCT study. *Bone*, 56(2), 281–289. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2013.06.014
- 21. Rencken, M. L., Chesnut, C. H., 3rd, & Drinkwater, B. L. (1996). Bone density at multiple skeletal sites in amenorrheic athletes. *JAMA*, 276(3), 238–240.
- 22. Schlickewei, C., Schweizer, C., Püschel, K., Ondruschka, B., Kleinertz, H., Barg, A., Rolvien, T., & Stürznickel, J. (2022). Age-, sex-, and subregion-specific properties of distal fibular microarchitecture and strength: An ex vivo HR-pQCT study. *Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society*, 10.1002/jor.25351. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1002/jor.25351
- 23. Sada, K., Chiba, K., Kajiyama, S., Okazaki, N., Yonekura, A., Tomita, M., & Osaki, M. (2020). Bone Mineral Density and Microstructure of the Elbow in Baseball Pitchers: An Analysis by Second-Generation HR-pQCT. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry*, 23(2), 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2019.03.001

- 24. Rudolph, S. E., Caksa, S., Gehman, S., Garrahan, M., Hughes, J. M., Tenforde, A. S., Ackerman, K. E., Bouxsein, M. L., & Popp, K. L. (2021). Physical Activity, Menstrual History, and Bone Microarchitecture in Female Athletes with Multiple Bone Stress Injuries. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 53(10), 2182–2189. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0000000002676
- 25. Boushey, C. J., Coulston, A. M., Rock, C. L., & Monsen, E. (Eds.). (2001). Nutrition in the Prevention and Treatment of Disease. Elsevier.
- 26. Ackland, T. R., Lohman, T. G., Sundgot-Borgen, J., Maughan, R. J., Meyer, N. L., Stewart, A. D., & Müller, W. (2012). Current status of body composition assessment in sport: review and position statement on behalf of the ad hoc research working group on body composition health and performance, under the auspices of the I.O.C. Medical Commission. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, 42(3), 227–249. https://doi.org/10.2165/11597140-000000000-00000
- Bacciotti, S., Baxter-Jones, A., Gaya, A., & Maia, J. (2017). The Physique of Elite Female Artistic Gymnasts: A Systematic Review. *Journal of human kinetics*, 58, 247– 259. https://doi.org/10.1515/hukin-2017-0075
- Franchini, E., Brito, C. J., & Artioli, G. G. (2012). Weight loss in combat sports: physiological, psychological and performance effects. *Journal of the International Society of Sports Nutrition*, 9(1), 52. https://doi.org/10.1186/1550-2783-9-52
- 29. Wang, Z. M., Pierson, R. N., Jr, & Heymsfield, S. B. (1992). The five-level model: a new approach to organizing body-composition research. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, *56*(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/56.1.19
- 30. Heymsfield, S., Heshka, S., Allison, D. B., & Pierson, R. N. (2009). *Body composition*. Henry Stewart Talks.
- 31. Silva A. M. (2019). Structural and functional body components in athletic health and performance phenotypes. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, *73*(2), 215–224. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41430-018-0321-9
- 32. Heymsfield, S. B., Wang, Z., Baumgartner, R. N., & Ross, R. (1997). Human body composition: advances in models and methods. *Annual review of nutrition*, *17*, 527–558. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.nutr.17.1.527
- 33. O'Kane, J. W., Neradilek, M., Polissar, N., Sabado, L., Tencer, A., & Schiff, M. A. (2017). Risk Factors for Lower Extremity Overuse Injuries in Female Youth Soccer Players. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, 5(10), 2325967117733963. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967117733963
- 34. Faude, O., Junge, A., Kindermann, W., & Dvorak, J. (2006). Risk factors for injuries in elite female soccer players. *British journal of sports medicine*, 40(9), 785–790. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2006.027540
- 35. Herzberg, S. D., Motu'apuaka, M. L., Lambert, W., Fu, R., Brady, J., & Guise, J. M. (2017). The Effect of Menstrual Cycle and Contraceptives on ACL Injuries and Laxity: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, 5(7), 2325967117718781. https://doi.org/10.1177/2325967117718781
- 36. Wang, Z., Pi-Sunyer, F. X., Kotler, D. P., Wielopolski, L., Withers, R. T., Pierson, R. N., Jr, & Heymsfield, S. B. (2002). Multicomponent methods: evaluation of new and traditional soft tissue mineral models by in vivo neutron activation analysis. *The*

American journal of clinical nutrition, 76(5), 968–974. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/76.5.968

- 37. Kuriyan R. (2018). Body composition techniques. *The Indian journal of medical research*, *148*(5), 648–658. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijmr.IJMR_1777_18
- 38. Durnin, J. V., & Womersley, J. (1974). Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: measurements on 481 men and women aged from 16 to 72 years. *The British journal of nutrition*, 32(1), 77–97. https://doi.org/10.1079/bjn19740060
- 39. Bioelectrical impedance analysis in body composition measurement: National Institutes of Health Technology Assessment Conference Statement. (1996). *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 64(3 Suppl), 524S–532S. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/64.3.524S
- 40. Khalil, S. F., Mohktar, M. S., & Ibrahim, F. (2014). The theory and fundamentals of bioimpedance analysis in clinical status monitoring and diagnosis of diseases. *Sensors* (*Basel, Switzerland*), 14(6), 10895–10928. https://doi.org/10.3390/s140610895
- 41. Campa, F., Toselli, S., Mazzilli, M., Gobbo, L. A., & Coratella, G. (2021). Assessment of Body Composition in Athletes: A Narrative Review of Available Methods with Special Reference to Quantitative and Qualitative Bioimpedance Analysis. *Nutrients*, 13(5), 1620. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13051620
- 42. Ellis K. J. (2000). Human body composition: in vivo methods. *Physiological reviews*, *80*(2), 649–680. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.2000.80.2.649
- 43. Withers, R. T., LaForgia, J., Pillans, R. K., Shipp, N. J., Chatterton, B. E., Schultz, C. G., & Leaney, F. (1998). Comparisons of two-, three-, and four-compartment models of body composition analysis in men and women. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 85(1), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.1998.85.1.238
- 44. Borga, M., West, J., Bell, J. D., Harvey, N. C., Romu, T., Heymsfield, S. B., & Dahlqvist Leinhard, O. (2018). Advanced body composition assessment: from body mass index to body composition profiling. *Journal of investigative medicine : the official publication of the American Federation for Clinical Research*, 66(5), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1136/jim-2018-000722
- 45. Garg, M. K., & Kharb, S. (2013). Dual energy X-ray absorptiometry: Pitfalls in measurement and interpretation of bone mineral density. *Indian journal of endocrinology and metabolism*, *17*(2), 203–210. https://doi.org/10.4103/2230-8210.109659
- 46. Goodpaster, B. H., Kelley, D. E., Thaete, F. L., He, J., & Ross, R. (2000). Skeletal muscle attenuation determined by computed tomography is associated with skeletal muscle lipid content. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md. : 1985)*, 89(1), 104– 110. https://doi.org/10.1152/jappl.2000.89.1.104
- 47. Dixon W. T. (1984). Simple proton spectroscopic imaging. *Radiology*, *153*(1), 189–194. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.153.1.6089263
- 48. Lukaski, H., & Raymond-Pope, C. J. (2021). New Frontiers of Body Composition in Sport. *International journal of sports medicine*, 42(7), 588–601. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-1373-5881
- Binkley, T. L., Daughters, S. W., Weidauer, L. A., & Vukovich, M. D. (2015). Changes in Body Composition in Division I Football Players Over a Competitive Season and Recovery in Off-Season. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 29(9), 2503–2512. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000000886

- 50. Garrett, W. E., & Kirkendall, D. T. (Eds.). (2000). *Exercise and sport science*. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- 51. O'Connor, H., Olds, T., Maughan, R. J., & International Association of Athletics Federations (2007). Physique and performance for track and field events. *Journal of sports sciences*, 25 Suppl 1, S49–S60. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640410701607296
- 52. van der Scheer, J. W., Totosy de Zepetnek, J. O., Blauwet, C., Brooke-Wavell, K., Graham-Paulson, T., Leonard, A. N., Webborn, N., & Goosey-Tolfrey, V. L. (2021). Assessment of body composition in spinal cord injury: A scoping review. *PloS one*, *16*(5), e0251142. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251142
- 53. Nana, A., Slater, G. J., Stewart, A. D., & Burke, L. M. (2015). Methodology review: using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) for the assessment of body composition in athletes and active people. *International journal of sport nutrition and exercise metabolism*, 25(2), 198–215. https://doi.org/10.1123/ijsnem.2013-0228
- 54. Santos, D. A., Gobbo, L. A., Matias, C. N., Petroski, E. L., Gonçalves, E. M., Cyrino, E. S., Minderico, C. S., Sardinha, L. B., & Silva, A. M. (2013). Body composition in taller individuals using DXA: A validation study for athletic and non-athletic populations. *Journal of sports sciences*, *31*(4), 405–413. https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2012.734918
- 55. Bilsborough JC, Greenway K, Opar D, Livingstone S, Cordy J, Coutts AJ. The accuracy and precision of DXA for assessing body composition in team sport athletes. J Sports Sci. 2014;32(19):1821-8. doi: 10.1080/02640414.2014.926380. Epub 2014 Jun 10. PMID: 24914773.
- 56. Tinsley GM, Moore ML, Graybeal AJ. Precision of Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry Reflection Scans in Muscular Athletes. J Clin Densitom. 2020 Oct-Dec;23(4):647-655. doi: 10.1016/j.jocd.2018.09.005. Epub 2018 Sep 13. PMID: 30327241.
- 57. Norton, K., & Olds, T. (2001). Morphological evolution of athletes over the 20th century: causes and consequences. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *31*(11), 763–783. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-200131110-00001
- 58. Miller, T. A., White, E. D., Kinley, K. A., Congleton, J. J., & Clark, M. J. (2002). The effects of training history, player position, and body composition on exercise performance in collegiate football players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *16*(1), 44–49.
- 59. Trexler, E. T., Smith-Ryan, A. E., Mann, J. B., Ivey, P. A., Hirsch, K. R., & Mock, M. G. (2017). Longitudinal Body Composition Changes in NCAA Division I College Football Players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *31*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001486
- 60. Bosch, T. A., Carbuhn, A. F., Stanforth, P. R., Oliver, J. M., Keller, K. A., & Dengel, D. R. (2019). Body Composition and Bone Mineral Density of Division 1 Collegiate Football Players: A Consortium of College Athlete Research Study. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *33*(5), 1339–1346. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000001888
- 61. Harp, J. B., & Hecht, L. (2005). Obesity in the National Football League. *JAMA*, 293(9), 1061–1062. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.293.9.1061-b
- 62. Romero-Corral, A., Montori, V. M., Somers, V. K., Korinek, J., Thomas, R. J., Allison, T. G., Mookadam, F., & Lopez-Jimenez, F. (2006). Association of bodyweight with total

mortality and with cardiovascular events in coronary artery disease: a systematic review of cohort studies. *Lancet (London, England)*, *368*(9536), 666–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69251-9

- 63. Borchers, J. R., Clem, K. L., Habash, D. L., Nagaraja, H. N., Stokley, L. M., & Best, T. M. (2009). Metabolic syndrome and insulin resistance in Division 1 collegiate football players. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 41(12), 2105–2110. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181abdfec
- 64. Oliver, J. M., Lambert, B. S., Martin, S. E., Green, J. S., & Crouse, S. F. (2012). Predicting football players' dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry body composition using standard anthropometric measures. *Journal of athletic training*, 47(3), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-47.3.12
- 65. Fonseca, H., Moreira-Gonçalves, D., Coriolano, H. J., & Duarte, J. A. (2014). Bone quality: the determinants of bone strength and fragility. *Sports medicine (Auckland, N.Z.)*, *44*(1), 37–53. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-013-0100-7
- 66. Hart, N. H., Nimphius, S., Rantalainen, T., Ireland, A., Siafarikas, A., & Newton, R. U. (2017). Mechanical basis of bone strength: influence of bone material, bone structure and muscle action. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, *17*(3), 114–139.
- 67. Keaveny, T. M., & Hayes, W. C. (1993). A 20-year perspective on the mechanical properties of trabecular bone. *Journal of biomechanical engineering*, *115*(4B), 534–542. https://doi.org/10.1115/1.2895536
- 68. Jacobs C. R. (2000). The mechanobiology of cancellous bone structural adaptation. *Journal of rehabilitation research and development*, *37*(2), 209–216.
- 69. Szulc, P., Seeman, E., Duboeuf, F., Sornay-Rendu, E., & Delmas, P. D. (2006). Bone fragility: failure of periosteal apposition to compensate for increased endocortical resorption in postmenopausal women. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 21(12), 1856–1863. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.060904
- 70. Augat, P., & Schorlemmer, S. (2006). The role of cortical bone and its microstructure in bone strength. *Age and ageing*, 35 Suppl 2, ii27–ii31. https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afl081
- Raggatt, L. J., & Partridge, N. C. (2010). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of bone remodeling. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 285(33), 25103–25108. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R109.041087
- 72. Kobayashi, S., Takahashi, H. E., Ito, A., Saito, N., Nawata, M., Horiuchi, H., Ohta, H., Ito, A., Iorio, R., Yamamoto, N., & Takaoka, K. (2003). Trabecular minimodeling in human iliac bone. *Bone*, 32(2), 163–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/s8756-3282(02)00947-x
- 73. Seeman, E., & Delmas, P. D. (2006). Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. *The New England journal of medicine*, 354(21), 2250–2261. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra053077
- 74. Cointry, G. R., Capozza, R. F., Negri, A. L., Roldán, E. J., & Ferretti, J. L. (2004). Biomechanical background for a noninvasive assessment of bone strength and musclebone interactions. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, *4*(1), 1–11.
- 75. Chen, Q., Bao, N., Yao, Q., & Li, Z. Y. (2018). Fractal dimension: A complementary diagnostic indicator of osteoporosis to bone mineral density. *Medical hypotheses*, 116, 136–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2018.05.006

- 76. Sievänen, H., Koskue, V., Rauhio, A., Kannus, P., Heinonen, A., & Vuori, I. (1998). Peripheral quantitative computed tomography in human long bones: evaluation of in vitro and in vivo precision. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 13(5), 871–882. https://doi.org/10.1359/jbmr.1998.13.5.871
- 77. Genant, H. K., Engelke, K., Fuerst, T., Glüer, C. C., Grampp, S., Harris, S. T., Jergas, M., Lang, T., Lu, Y., Majumdar, S., Mathur, A., & Takada, M. (1996). Noninvasive assessment of bone mineral and structure: state of the art. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 11(6), 707–730. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.5650110602
- Evans, R. K., Negus, C. H., Centi, A. J., Spiering, B. A., Kraemer, W. J., & Nindl, B. C. (2012). Peripheral QCT sector analysis reveals early exercise-induced increases in tibial bone mineral density. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 12(3), 155–164.
- 79. Engelke, K., Adams, J. E., Armbrecht, G., Augat, P., Bogado, C. E., Bouxsein, M. L., Felsenberg, D., Ito, M., Prevrhal, S., Hans, D. B., & Lewiecki, E. M. (2008). Clinical use of quantitative computed tomography and peripheral quantitative computed tomography in the management of osteoporosis in adults: the 2007 ISCD Official Positions. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry*, 11(1), 123–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2007.12.010
- Lala, D., Cheung, A. M., Gordon, C., & Giangregorio, L. (2012). Comparison of cortical bone measurements between pQCT and HR-pQCT. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the* official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry, 15(3), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2012.01.005
- 81. Lala, D., Cheung, A. M., Lynch, C. L., Inglis, D., Gordon, C., Tomlinson, G., & Giangregorio, L. (2014). Measuring apparent trabecular structure with pQCT: a comparison with HR-pQCT. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry*, 17(1), 47–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2013.03.002
- 82. Baker, B. S., Chen, Z., Larson, R. D., Bemben, M. G., & Bemben, D. A. (2020). Sex differences in bone density, geometry, and bone strength of competitive soccer players. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 20(1), 62–76.
- 83. Dowthwaite, J. N., & Scerpella, T. A. (2009). Skeletal geometry and indices of bone strength in artistic gymnasts. *Journal of musculoskeletal & neuronal interactions*, 9(4), 198–214.
- 84. Tinsley, G. M., Moore, M. L., & Graybeal, A. J. (2020). Precision of Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry Reflection Scans in Muscular Athletes. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry*, 23(4), 647–655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2018.09.005
- 85. Mikolajewicz, N., Bishop, N., Burghardt, A. J., Folkestad, L., Hall, A., Kozloff, K. M., Lukey, P. T., Molloy-Bland, M., Morin, S. N., Offiah, A. C., Shapiro, J., van Rietbergen, B., Wager, K., Willie, B. M., Komarova, S. V., & Glorieux, F. H. (2020). HR-pQCT Measures of Bone Microarchitecture Predict Fracture: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 35(3), 446–459. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.3901

- 86. Warden, S. J., Wright, C. S., & Fuchs, R. K. (2021). Bone Microarchitecture and Strength Adaptation to Physical Activity: A Within-Subject Controlled HRpQCT Study. *Medicine* and science in sports and exercise, 53(6), 1179–1187. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000002571
- Krill, M., Borchers, J., Hoffman, J., Krill, M. & Hewett, T. (2020). Analysis of Football Injuries by Position Group in Division I College Football: A 5-Year Program Review. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 30 (3), 216-223. doi: 10.1097/JSM.000000000000574.
- Wagala, N. N., Winkler, P. W., Godshaw, B. M., Popchak, A., Hughes, J. D., Lin, A., & Musahl, V. (2022). Player Position and Labral Tear Location and Size in NCAA Division I Football Players Undergoing Arthroscopic Surgery. *Orthopaedic journal of sports medicine*, 10(11), 23259671221133134. https://doi.org/10.1177/23259671221133134
- Noel, M. B., VanHeest, J. L., Zaneteas, P., & Rodgers, C. D. (2003). Body composition in Division I football players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *17*(2), 228–237. https://doi.org/10.1519/1533-4287(2003)017<0228:bcidif>2.0.co;2
- 90. Pomeroy, E., Macintosh, A., Wells, J. C. K., Cole, T. J., & Stock, J. T. (2018). Relationship between body mass, lean mass, fat mass, and limb bone cross-sectional geometry: Implications for estimating body mass and physique from the skeleton. *American journal* of physical anthropology, 166(1), 56–69. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23398
- 91. Trexler, E. T., Smith-Ryan, A. E., Mann, J. B., Ivey, P. A., Hirsch, K. R., & Mock, M. G. (2017). Longitudinal Body Composition Changes in NCAA Division I College Football Players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *31*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000001486
- 92. Ackerman, K. E., Singhal, V., Slattery, M., Eddy, K. T., Bouxsein, M. L., Lee, H., Klibanski, A., & Misra, M. (2020). Effects of Estrogen Replacement on Bone Geometry and Microarchitecture in Adolescent and Young Adult Oligoamenorrheic Athletes: A Randomized Trial. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 35(2), 248–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.3887
- 93. Ackerman, K. E., Cano Sokoloff, N., DE Nardo Maffazioli, G., Clarke, H. M., Lee, H., & Misra, M. (2015). Fractures in Relation to Menstrual Status and Bone Parameters in Young Athletes. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, 47(8), 1577–1586. https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000000574
- 94. Best, A., Holt, B., Troy, L., & Hamill, J. (2017). Trabecular bone in the calcaneus of runners. *PloS one*, *12*(11), e0188200. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188200
- 95. Sode, M., Burghardt, A. J., Kazakia, G. J., Link, T. M., & Majumdar, S. (2010). Regional variations of gender-specific and age-related differences in trabecular bone structure of the distal radius and tibia. *Bone*, 46(6), 1652–1660. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bone.2010.02.021
- 96. Feito, Y., Hoffstetter, W., Serafini, P., & Mangine, G. (2018). Changes in body composition, bone metabolism, strength, and skill-specific performance resulting from 16-weeks of HIFT. *PloS one*, *13*(6), e0198324. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198324
- 97. Varley, I., Hughes, D. C., Greeves, J. P., Fraser, W. D., & Sale, C. (2017). Increased Training Volume Improves Bone Density and Cortical Area in Adolescent Football

Players. *International journal of sports medicine*, 38(5), 341–346. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0042-124510

- 98. Ward, P. A., Ramsden, S., Coutts, A. J., Hulton, A. T., & Drust, B. (2018). Positional Differences in Running and Nonrunning Activities During Elite American Football Training. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, 32(7), 2072–2084. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.00000000002294
- 99. Bosch, Burruss, T. P., Weir, N. L., Fielding, K. A., Engel, B. E., Weston, T. D., & Dengel, D. R. (2014). Abdominal Body Composition Differences in NFL Football Players. *Journal of Strength and Conditioning Research*, 28(12), 3313–3319. https://doi.org/10.1519/JSC.000000000000650
- 100.Pelegrini, A., Bim, M. A., Alves, A. D., Scarabelot, K. S., Claumann, G. S., Fernandes, R. A., de Angelo, H. C. C., & Pinto, A. A. (2022). Relationship Between Muscle Strength, Body Composition and Bone Mineral Density in Adolescents. *Journal of clinical densitometry : the official journal of the International Society for Clinical Densitometry*, 25(1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2021.09.001
- 101.O'Leary, T. J., Wardle, S. L., Gifford, R. M., Double, R. L., Reynolds, R. M., Woods, D. R., & Greeves, J. P. (2021). Tibial Macrostructure and Microarchitecture Adaptations in Women During 44 Weeks of Arduous Military Training. *Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research*, 36(7), 1300–1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.4290